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A message from:

Annual Report 2016-17

A message from:
This is the fourth
Annual Report for
NHS Gloucestershire
Clinical Commissioning
Group and it’s good to
highlight the progress
made.

Dr Andy Seymour
Clinical Chair

As you will see, great
work is going on across
the county and within
our local communities to
improve health and care
despite the challenges
facing the NHS.
Through the county’s
Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP),
we are already working
closely together as ‘One
Gloucestershire’ to ensure
a sustainable future for
health and care services.
We know that we face
significant challenges

as a result of a growing
population with more
complex needs and
increasing demands for
services.

support across the county
to meet the challenges of
the future and make best
use of the Gloucestershire
pound.

Looking forward, we
will be placing greater
emphasis on prevention,
helping people to live in
more active communities
and stay independent
for longer in their own
homes. We also want to
ensure that people are
able to access consistently
high quality, safe, physical
and mental health care
when it is needed.

We will also continue
to invest more money
in priority areas such as
GP services and mental
health care.

Alongside engagement
with local people and
partners, we will be
taking a logical approach
to developing priorities
and proposals for how
we organise services and

We would like to
emphasise to our
workforce that we
will continue to need
their skills, knowledge,
expertise, professionalism
and dedication over the
coming months and years
and although certain roles
and services may evolve
and change to best serve
local people, care and
support will remain at the
heart of what we do.

We wish you the best of health.
Mary Hutton
Accountable
Officer

"Looking forward, we will be placing greater

emphasis on prevention, helping people to
live in more active communities and stay
independent for longer in their own homes."
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Helping people
and communities
to stay healthy
Social Prescribing – improving wellbeing and connecting communities
All of Gloucestershire’s
seven localities are now
running social prescribing
pilot schemes to support
people who go to their
GP surgery, but who do
not necessarily require
medical care.

As a result of close
partnership working
between the CCG, local
councils, Gloucestershire
Care Services NHS
Trust and a range of
voluntary and community
organisations, more than

Gloucestershire announced
as Diabetes Prevention
Programme site
Gloucestershire has
received a boost in the
fight against diabetes,
as one of 13 areas
in the country to be
announced in the next
phase of the rollout of
a National Prevention
Programme.
Gloucestershire County
Council will work with
the CCG to introduce
the new programme,
which will identify
people at high risk
of developing Type 2
diabetes.
People referred by their
GP will get tailored
help to reduce their
risk of Type 2 diabetes,
including education

on healthy eating
and lifestyle choices,
help to lose weight
and physical exercise
programmes. Together,
this has been proven
to reduce the risk of
developing the disease.
The programme
is supported by
Gloucestershire’s
Sustainability and
Transformation Plan
(STP), which sets out
the county’s ambitions
to support people in
Gloucestershire to live
healthier lives through
a greater emphasis
on prevention, selfcare and community
support.

2,000 people have been
supported this year to
connect to services and
groups that can help
improve their well-being
and meet their wider
needs.
Social prescribing supports

people with issues such
as loneliness, low level
mental health, healthy
living and coping with
caring responsibilities.
Plans are now being
looked at to develop the
service for the future.

Workplace Wellbeing
Encouraging staff to keep fit and healthy
– 35 businesses already involved
The CCG, and their
STP partners, have
been encouraging local
businesses and their staff
to keep fit and healthy
and take responsibility
for making healthy and
sensible lifestyle choices.
Health@work have been
working in partnership
with the local enterprise
partnership to support
local businesses to
sign up to the National
Workplace Wellbeing
Charter.
The Charter is a health,
safety and wellbeing
award scheme which has
shown to be effective
in creating workplace
cultures that support
good health and

wellbeing for employees
and deliver tangible
business benefits.
The eight areas which
the Charter takes into
account are Leadership,
Absence Management,
Health and Safety,
Mental Health, Smoking,
Physical Activity, Healthy
Eating and Alcohol.
Both large and small
organisations can be
accredited, and the
service is offered free of
charge.
The charter has been
well received by the
business community with
10 organisations already
achieving the charter
and a further 25 working
towards accreditation.
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The Daily Mile

– over 10,000 pupils taking part
The CCG have
been working in
partnership with Active
Gloucestershire and the
County Council to support
local primary schools to
get children to walk, jog
or run a mile every day at
school under ‘The Daily
Mile’ initiative.
The Daily Mile was
formally launched in
March 2017 and is

challenging schools to
collectively ‘trot’ around
Europe by the end of the
summer term.
Children can do this by
going on an educational
journey with School
Games mascot ‘Old Spot’
on his ‘European trot’.
Being physically active
at a young age not
only leads to a range of

health benefits, but it has
also shown to improve
academic performance.

Parents comment that
their children are eating
and sleeping better.

Over 10,000 pupils
from 43 schools in
Gloucestershire are taking
part so far, with teachers
reporting that children
concentrate better in class
and come back from their
Daily Mile refreshed and
ready to learn.

The initiative supports
the key ill health
prevention theme within
Gloucestershire's STP.

1,000 ‘Patient activations’ supporting self-care
Over the last 12 months, the NHS in Gloucestershire
has introduced the concept of ‘patient activation’
across the health and social care community.
Patient activation describes the knowledge, skills and
confidence a person has in managing their own health
and care.
So far over 1,000 individuals have been working
alongside their local health professionals to better
understand their levels of activation through a
questionnaire called the ‘patient activation measure’
(PAM).
The PAM is being piloted across a range of services
and supporting people with lung disease, frailty and

recovering from cancer.
Patient activation helps people to recognise and
develop their own strengths and abilities to manage
their own health and care.
It does this by giving them information they can
understand and act on and providing them with
support that is tailored to their needs.
People with high levels of knowledge, confidence and
skills to self-care are known to have better experiences
of health care, better health and experience fewer
hospital visits. It also leads to healthier behaviours, such
as physical activity or stopping smoking.
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Mental health of
Gloucestershire’s
communities being
made a top priority
The mental health of Gloucestershire’s
communities is being made a top priority by local
health and care partners.
One in four adults experiences at least one
diagnosable mental health problem in any
given year and many of these problems start in
childhood.
Support was strengthened locally in 2016-17, with
a number of developments designed to prevent
mental illness and improve the care available.

Better support
for patients at
risk of falling

These include Investing in Let’s Talk, the county’s
Improving Access to Psychological Therapy service,
to help those experiencing common conditions
such as stress, anxiety and depression.

– 6,000 home visits this year

Other developments include the opening of a
wellbeing house in partnership with national charity
Mind and funding extended hours at The Cavern in
Gloucester so people can benefit from non-clinical
support and feel less isolated.

There is a great focus in Gloucestershire on preventing
illness and injury in older age and on developing
community support across the county to help people
stay independent for longer.
In Gloucestershire, the number of older people is
increasing, and about 35,000 people fall each year,
often resulting in distress and loss of confidence,
independence and mobility.
Services have been working together in 2016-17 to
offer better advice and support to older people in
particular who are at the greatest risk of falling.
One great example of partnership working is between
the local NHS, County Council social care and
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS), who
are advising people on how to make their homes safer
on their regular visits.
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service carried out
over 6,000 home visits to people last year.
This partnership has enabled the Fire Service to expand
their Safe and Well visits. Along with the usual fire
safety checks, they now make sure older people
are safe at home from other risks e.g. advice on trip
hazards, staying active and hydrated and linking up
with other sources of support in the community.
5

This year for example saw the launch of the ‘On your
Mind’ website which is helping young people to
cope with life’s ups and downs (see front cover).

The local NHS and local authority has also enhanced
the support provided to those in mental health crisis,
including better links with the emergency services.
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Mental health services for pregnant women
and new mums to benefit from £1.5m funding
Gloucestershire is one of only 20 areas across the country to be successful in being awarded national
funding, which will be used to improve specialist community mental health support for women, their
babies and families.
The funding will be released over the next three years and will be used to set up a new community
mental health team which specialises in supporting pregnant women, new mothers, their babies and
families experiencing post-natal depression
and other emotional difficulties.
The team will help ensure that women
have access to expert advice and
information on the impact pregnancy and
childbirth can have on their mental health.
The CCG is working with pregnant
women and new mums and partners
including 2gether NHS Foundation
Trust, Gloucestershire County Council,
Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust
and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust to take plans forward.

Improving early diagnosis for dementia
– rate rises to over 68% in the county
GPs and healthcare staff across Gloucestershire are
making positive strides to improve dementia care
and support with over 68% of people now being
diagnosed compared to 32% just six years ago.
This improvement, which is based on the estimated
number of people with dementia in the county, has
been made possible by good engagement between
healthcare professionals and follow up on the signs
and symptoms.
This means that more people with dementia and their
carers are receiving early advice and support.
Local care and support will be given a further boost
with developments including a pilot scheme for
community dementia nurses to coordinate annual
reviews and provide community support and improved
arrangements to help people with dementia to leave
hospital so that they can return home quicker with the
right support.
Other plans include development of a range of easily
understandable information for patients and carers,
to help them understand the full range of support

available, increased training to care homes and better
diagnosis and support for people from minority
groups.
It is estimated that there are nearly 9,000 people with
dementia in Gloucestershire.

One Place, One Budget, One System
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‘People and place’ model highlights changing
healthcare and community support
A key feature of 2016-17 has been local GP
practices working in closer partnership and grouping
themselves into 16 GP ‘clusters’ across the county.
And in many areas of Gloucestershire, other
health professionals, such as clinical pharmacists,
paramedics, physiotherapists and mental health
staff, are working more closely with GP practices to
support local people.
This approach aims to support greater resilience
and sustainability of GP services and also allows
for a wider range of services to be
provided to meet the specific needs
of local communities.

cared for in the community.
The ‘people and place’ model, which is now starting
to take shape, involves joined up health and social
care teams (see below) working alongside the GP
clusters – providing care in peoples' own homes and
in the community, supported by specialist staff if
needed.
These developments at community level have been
made possible through local partnerships between
the Clusters, the NHS Trusts and Social Care.

For example, one pilot scheme
under development across two inner
city clusters will see GP practices
identifying patients who would
benefit from seeing full time mental
health workers, rather than GPs.
In some rural clusters, GP practices
are working together to support the
health and wider social needs of
more elderly, frail patients, meaning
that they can stay at home and be

Joined up care – supporting people at home and in the community
Investment in joined up Health and Social Care Community Teams (ICTs) is benefitting patients across the
county with 24 hour a day, 7 day a week support where they live.
The development, through Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust, has helped around 25,000 patients this
year, providing them with extra support at home, reducing unnecessary hospital stays and helping patients
to return home sooner after operations or treatment.
Around 2,000 patients who
need urgent care after a crisis
or unexpected event at home
have been treated by the Rapid
Response Service (response
within 1 hour) this year.
Also this year, a project to
strengthen team working in ICTs
and build closer relationships
with mental health services
and voluntary and community
organisations for the benefit of
patients was piloted in Stroud
and Berkeley Vale (see locality
section).
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Choice+ improving access to GP care
As part of the county’s successful Prime
Minister’s Challenge Fund bid, around 35,000
additional urgent appointments have been
made available at health facilities across
Gloucestershire this year.
It has resulted in increased access to GP care
between 8am and 8pm (Monday to Friday) and
on Saturdays.
Patients who need an urgent appointment with
a doctor can wait for the next available slot at
their GP surgery or choose to attend another
healthcare centre in the local area.
It also frees up time at the GP surgery for
doctors to spend more time with patients with
chronic long term health conditions.

LDISS recognised as ‘best practice’ service
– over 300 people receive support to date

The Learning Disability
Intensive Support Service
(LDISS) commissioned
by the CCG and County
Council has been
highlighted as ‘best
practice’ by NHS England.

The service, provided by
gether NHS Foundation
Trust, offers support for
children, young people
and adults to prevent the
need for stays in hospital
and facilities outside the
county.
2

Available 365 days a year,
LDISS can provide hands
on support over a 24
hour period to clients and
health professionals.
Since 1 April 2014, over
300 people have used

the service, including
those who were at risk
of a hospital stay or
having to move or leave
their current place of
residence.

Developing services together
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Eye appointments for children now
available closer to home
been providing community eye health
services since last year, has already
introduced new glaucoma and cataract
services as well as treatments for
specific minor eye conditions.
The new service will give children who
have failed their school vision screening
within a defined criteria access to a
full assessment through a community
optician. This will reduce the need for
many children to wait for a hospital
appointment.
Formed by Gloucestershire Local Optical
Committee (LOC), PEG manages a
network of established and experienced
optometrists which includes both
independent practices and chains such
as Specsavers and Vision Express.
Children across Gloucestershire who are found to have
problems with their eye sight at school vision screening
could now be referred to their local community
optometrist instead of hospital.

Community optometrists have high levels of expertise
and are well-equipped to provide excellent treatment
and service, enabling children to have appointments
close to home at convenient times.

Primary Eyecare Gloucestershire (PEG), which has

Helping people live with and beyond cancer
The CCG has teamed together with Macmillan in
Gloucestershire to support people to improve their
health and wellbeing during treatment and into their
recovery.
In hospital, patients are now
benefitting from the Cancer
Recovery Package, which
includes a full assessment of
their needs, a personal care
plan and a Treatment Summary
to improve communication
with their GP.
Patients also have improved
access to information and
education events and with
Macmillan’s valuable support a
pilot community based service
(Next Steps) launched in April 2016
in two areas of the county to help
people overcome the after effects
of cancer.

During the year, a series of specific cancer
masterclasses have been run for GPs to increase
awareness of the signs and symptoms and to support
early diagnosis.
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Better advice and support for patients with
respiratory (lung) conditions
During 2016-17, the CCG, NHS Trusts and partners have been actively seeking feedback from patients and carers
on how services and support could be improved.
Patients have fed back that they can find it hard to understand their disease, how to manage living with it and
how to help themselves feel better.
Now, more people with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), a condition that causes breathlessness,
are being offered a structured programme of exercise and education.
This involves attending a group with other COPD patients and their carers where all attendees are supported
together to understand their disease better.
The courses gives people an opportunity to do exercises that will help improve their condition and show them
how to use their medications to have better control of their symptoms.
This year, patients with COPD and other health conditions were offered an additional review from their GP
practice to ensure they had all the information they needed to manage their condition throughout the colder
winter period.
Work is now underway to develop joined up teams that focus on prevention and early diagnosis and provide
seamless care and support to patients at home, in the community and in hospital.

Developing and supporting the NHS workforce
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Gloucestershire ‘leading the way to ensure
sustainability of GP services’
The CCG, its localities
and member GP practices
are leading the way in
developments to support
a sustainable future for
GP services and the local
workforce.
In terms of workforce,
the CCG is pleased to
see full GP training
places in the county
and has established a
working group with
Health Education England
and GP representatives
to ensure everything
is done to offer newly
qualified GPs, who are
coming to the end of
their training, the right
package of support and

opportunities to stay in
the county.
The CCG has embarked
on a high profile GP
recruitment campaign,
in partnership with the
British Medical Journal,
which is already showing
some signs of success in
attracting GPs to live and
work in the county.
The CCG is actively
supporting qualified
GPs who are unable to
commit themselves to
a full time post, or who
wish to pursue a portfolio
career, to work in general
practice in the county.
Gloucestershire is also

leading the way in
supporting, and investing
in, other healthcare
professionals working
within GP practices,
including clinical
pharmacists who are
experts in medicines.
Some GP practices have
already reported that this

is helping to free up GP
time for the benefit of
patients.
Local GP practices in the
county are working in
closer partnership and
are now grouped into 16
GP ‘clusters’ across the
county.

University of Gloucestershire to offer new nurse
training programme
The University of Gloucestershire has been approved to
deliver training for an important new NHS nursing role
which will sit alongside existing nursing care support
workers and fully-qualified registered nurses to deliver
hands-on care for patients.
Health Education England, the body responsible for
planning and developing the healthcare and public
health workforce, announced that Gloucestershire was
one of 24 test sites that will deliver training for the new
Nursing Associate role.
Working closely with the local NHS Trusts and the CCG,
the University of Gloucestershire will design and deliver
training in the new role.
Gloucestershire has been allocated 32 Nursing Associate
training places and training will start this year.
As part of their training programme, Nursing Associates
will undertake placements in GP surgeries, hospitals
and mental health services to get hands-on experience
and become well-prepared to provide a high standard
of care to NHS patients in the future.
The University has also been given the green light to
offer a new nursing degree from September 2017. The
course aims to tackle nursing shortages both locally

and nationally by offering a three year undergraduate
degree with hands on experience at every stage.

Care professionals
recognised at special
awards evening
Care professionals
and community
champions from
across Gloucestershire
were recognised for
their outstanding
and dedicated service
at the first ever
Gloucestershire Health
and Social Care Awards
at Gloucester Cathedral
this winter.

Gloucestershire Young
Carers, celebrated
all that’s great about
health and social care in
the county.
Information on the
categories and finalists
and winner videos can
be found at: www.
gloucestershirelive.
co.uk/hscawards

The event, which also
included appearances
from the Caring
Chorus, GDance and
IN ASSOCIATION WITH
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Making the most of new technologies

Digital technology set to improve care for diabetes patients
Patients in Gloucestershire will be among the first to benefit from a new initiative to modernise how the
NHS delivers care.
The CCG is part of an innovative project, led by the West of England Academic Health Science Network, which
will allow people with diabetes to try out self-management technologies, such as wearable sensors, to help them
manage their condition.
It is called the ‘Diabetes Digital Coach’ project, and the initiative will support people with Type 1 or Type 2
diabetes to self-manage their condition and seek the right kind of help when they need it.
The CCG played a key role in developing the regional bid with Accountable Officer, Mary Hutton being the
programme’s Executive Sponsor.

1,300 G-Care users – site making a real difference
to health professionals and patients
It helps GPs keep up to date with the latest prescribing
guidance, new ways of treating a certain condition, as
well as knowing where to find the latest information
from other local health providers, such as contact
details or new referral forms.
G-Care gives GPs, and primary care teams, the latest
information to either help patients to manage their
own care or refer them to the right services and
support at the right time.
The site has also helped improve the information
patients are given as GPs are able to provide a range
of health and wellbeing resources, including leaflets.
‘G-care’ was launched by the CCG in July 2015 and
is a new ‘Clinical Information Website’ for health
professionals in Gloucestershire – it currently has over
1,300 users.

Users are accessing G-care around 4,000 times a
month and it has received positive feedback from
health professionals.

On Your Mind

– helping young people in Gloucestershire to cope with life’s ups and downs
With help from young people, their families and
others, the CCG has launched a new 'On Your Mind'
website to help young people aged 12 – 18 find help
when they need it so they are more able to cope
when things are tough.
The website includes information on local
sources of support for young people about
issues they may be facing, such as anxiety,
eating issues, anger and bullying as well as
links to useful websites and national helplines.
It was developed with input from young
people in the county, some of whom have
personal experience of mental health
problems. They helped design the artwork
and explained what kind of information they
would find useful.

The site will help young people struggling to cope
with their emotions or life situations to realise
that they are not alone, and that there is lots of
trustworthy information and advice available to help.
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Joining Up Your Information to improve
patient safety and care
The NHS and County Council in Gloucestershire are improving the way
health and social care professionals share important patient information by
giving them carefully controlled access to a secure online system.
Currently, service users often have to repeat their stories each time they
see a health or social care worker. This is because care providers often
have different sets of records on systems that are not always joined up.
With the consent of patients, the system will allow the most up-to-date
care information about the individual to be shared securely, for example,
details that different health and care teams already share through telephone calls, letters and faxes.
More information is available at: www.mylocalsharedcareinfo.org

E-consultations
being trialled
in the county

Eighteen GP practices across Gloucestershire have been trialling E-consultation software, such as ‘askmyGP’,
available from their practice website.
Patients can seek help through answering a series of questions about their symptoms – on their smartphone,
tablet or computer – which allows a much quicker initial assessment by the GP practice.
A swift decision can then be made by the surgery on whether to see or call the patient, and which member of
the primary care team is best placed to support them.

The year in pictures

North
Cotswolds

Minor Ailments
Scheme goes from
strength to strength
North Cotswold GP
practices have been
working with their local
pharmacies over the
last year to promote the
Community Pharmacy
Minor Ailments Scheme.
GP reception staff are
able to give patients
information about the
advice and/or medicines
that their local pharmacist
can offer for common,
less serious illnesses
without having to make an
appointment with the GP.
Pharmacists (chemists) are
a great source of health
advice and information,
they are experts in
medicines and how
they work and they can
give advice about how
patients can treat and
look after themselves.
The practice is notified
automatically of the
patient’s visit to the
pharmacy and the advice/
medicines prescribed by
the pharmacist to keep

North Cotswolds
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the patient record up-todate.
Complex Lower Wound
Service
Healthcare professionals
in the North Cotswolds
have worked with
Gloucestershire Care
Services NHS Trust to
introduce the CLW service
based in Bourton on the
Water for those patients
requiring support with
lower leg ulcers.
The service, launched
earlier this year, has meant
that patients identified
by their GP practice as
needing assessment are
more likely to get earlier
advice, support or care,
reducing the need for
visits to hospital.
This service is supported
by members of the
voluntary sector in
partnership with patients
who run a weekly Leg
Café drop-in service. This
offers social opportunities
and it’s a place people
can go if they have
concerns or simply wish to
learn more about how to

29,190

Pop.
approx:

5

practices

23 GPs

manage their condition.
Clinical Pharmacists
making a real
difference
Two Clinical Pharmacists
have been employed,
working across all
five North Cotswold
practices, to improve the
quality of prescribing for
patients and ensure the
most effective use of
medication.
Clinical Pharmacists are
highly qualified healthcare
professionals and are
experts on medicines.
If patients are taking a
medicine or a number
of them, they can offer
helpful advice and
support.
This scheme got
underway in September
2016 and sees the
pharmacists working as
integral members of the
practice team.
Early signs are that this
new way of working
within the practices is
benefitting the wider
team, patients and it’s

Covering Chipping
Campden,
Bourton-on-the-Water,
Moreton-in-Marsh,
Stow-on-the-Wold,
Blockley, Northleach

also contributing to better
use of the prescribing
budget.
Locality Group will be
the ‘eyes and ears’ for
patients
The GP practices in the
North Cotswolds are
committed to working
with patients and local
organisations to improve
health, healthcare and
support for those living
and working in the area.
As part of this, the
practices have set up
a Locality Reference
Group which will become
the ‘eyes and ears’ of
the locality and ensure
that patients are at the
heart of any service
developments or changes.
The group held their first
meeting in early 2017
with representatives from
local patient participation
groups, the voluntary
and community sector
and healthcare provider
organisations.
Meetings will be held on
a quarterly basis.
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Evening support at The
Cavern to continue
Thanks to continued
funding from the CCG,
The Cavern at Westgate
Street in Gloucester will
continue to open every
evening from 6-11pm.
The café, which opened
in 2014 alongside a
community hub, is run
by Kingfishers Treasure
Seekers, a voluntary
organisation with a long
history of supporting
people with complex
needs.
The extended opening
hours will allow trained
staff and volunteers
to provide non-clinical
mental health support
to help people feel less
isolated, cope with anxiety
and meet new people.
They offer a listening
ear, and activities such
as board games, adult
colouring and social
events such as quiz
nights. The café offers an
inclusive and supportive
environment, with a
‘snug’ and quiet space
upstairs when privacy is
needed.
Although based in
Gloucester, the service
is available to anyone in
the county with mental
health problems.
GP practice staff take
part in skills training
to support suicide
prevention
This year, in partnership
with Public Health
Gloucestershire, practice
staff in the Gloucester
City locality carried
out training delivered

Gloucester

Gloucester
by MIND to
gain more
confidence in
working with
patients experiencing
suicidal thoughts.
Mental health awareness
and training has been
identified as a key priority
in the locality and the
partnership working
with Public Health
Gloucestershire has
supported development
of the county-wide
suicide prevention plan.
GP practices make
arrangements to
better support Care
Homes
GPs in Gloucester City
have started to look at
how they can further
improve arrangements to
support care homes and
their residents.
There are 139 care
homes in the locality,
all of which work with
GP practices to support
the medical needs of
vulnerable patients.
This includes elderly
residents in nursing and

170,102

Pop.
approx:

18

practices
GPs

115

residential homes and
care homes where there
are people with physical
and learning disabilities.
As part this project, one
practice will be allocated to
each care home, which will
result in improved working
relationships with staff,
improved knowledge of an
individual resident’s ongoing needs and improved
care arrangements. Larger
care homes will have two
practices allocated to them.
Respiratory project in
Gloucester leads the
way
Gloucester City is leading
the way in piloting
a respiratory project
which aims to improve
people’s management
and awareness of their
condition.
It also aims to reduce
emergency stays in
hospital for people with
respiratory conditions.

Covering Abbeydale,
Churchdown,
Gloucester,
Hardwicke, Highnam,
Hucclecote,
Longlevens, Matson,
Quedgeley,
Saintbridge

So far the project has
included people with
COPD (a condition that
causes breathlessness) or
at risk of a respiratoryrelated hospital stay due to
a condition such as renal
failure or heart failure.
Patients are offered
reviews by their GP
practice. The Patient
Questionnaire completed
as part of the review
gives health professionals
an opportunity to tailor
support and education to
help individuals manage
their condition themselves
more effectively.
Joint meetings involving a
range of health and care
professionals, including
hospital and community
staff, aim to improve the
patient’s experience of care.
The learning from this
pilot is contributing to
the development of a
county-wide approach
to managing respiratory
disease.
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Stroud
Service launched for
patients with possible
Asthma
Healthcare professionals
in Stroud have set up a
service for patients with
possible asthma which
is delivering multiple
benefits.
An experienced
Respiratory nurse carries
out clinics in each of the
practices with a FeNO
machine to help diagnose
asthma (or confirm
it isn’t asthma) and
also identifies patients
who no longer require
medication.
This pilot also provides
education for practice
nurses on how to use
the machine and carry
out these assessments
with patients. This will
enable practice nurses to
better manage asthmatic
patients in the future.
GP led Ear, Nose and
Throat service up and
running at the Vale
After several years of
planning, a pilot local Ear,
Nose & Throat (ENT) clinic
run by a GP with a special
interest in this area of
healthcare is taking place
twice a month at the Vale
Community Hospital.
The clinic has been very
well received by local
doctors and patient
feedback is excellent. It
offers a local service close
to home with short wait
times.
This pilot has been
supported by the League
of Friends from the Vale

Stroud and
Berkeley Vale

and Berkeley Vale

Community Hospital
with the Lions Charity in
Dursley who purchased
the microscope needed
for the scheme.
The success of the pilot
will be evaluated before a
decision is made on next
steps.
The People and Place
model – joined up care
and support
Stroud and Berkeley Vale
locality is making positive
strides by introducing
new ways of working as
part of the ‘People and
Place’ approach to health
and community support
(see also page 7 of this
Report).
Local GP practices are
working more closely
than ever before with
Gloucestershire Care

119,526

Pop.
approx:

18practices
96GPs

Services NHS Trust,
Social Care, 2gether
NHS Foundation Trust,
Gloucestershire Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust,
Stroud District Council
and Public Health
colleagues to ensure high
quality and joined up care
in, or close to, people’s
homes.
Community health and
social care teams are now
arranged around the GP
clusters to improve the
co-ordination of services
and support and each
cluster is working on a
range of developments to
support local needs.
These include a
Community Dementia
Nurse based in four
practices and better GP
support for care homes.

Covering Berkeley,
Minchinhampton,
Nailsworth, Stonehouse,
Stroud, Dursley, Cam,
Frampton-on-Severn,
Uley,
Wotton-under-Edge,
Bussage, Painswick

Vale Community
Hospital Allotments
A new small raised bed
allotment scheme, which
aims to improve health
and well-being, is now
underway.
The allotments on unused
hospital ground are
part of the local social
prescribing offer.
They have proved
extremely popular and
are used by young and
old alike. More are being
built and outcomes are
proving very positive.
The scheme is supported
by Stroud District
Council, Gloucestershire
Care Services NHS
Trust charitable funds,
the League of Friends,
Barnwood Trust and the
local GP cluster.
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Cheltenham

Further progress with
Cheltenham Locality
Polypharmacy Review
Service (CLIPS)
Further progress has been
made this year in local GP
practices to improve the
quality of prescribing for
the elderly and provide
real health benefits.
Clinical pharmacists
are now working in all
practices in Cheltenham
reviewing those
older patients living
independently (out of
care homes) who are at
high risk because of their
complex drug regimens
i.e. taking multiple
medicines.
Earlier work had shown
that many patients can

safely reduce or even stop
some of their medication
resulting in lower risks of
side effects and falls.

teachers to start talking
about difficult and
important personal and
family health issues.

Facts4Life – changing
attitudes to personal
health and well-being
The ground breaking
Facts4Life project, has
been up and running in
schools in Cheltenham
for over a year now and
helps young people to
keep as well as possible.

Health problems can be
identified more quickly
and interventions carried
out at an earlier stage,
without the need for
medical involvement.

It aims to improve
understanding
about health and
illness and provide
learning on how to
manage problems better.
The initiative in Key stage
1, allows children and

153,386

Cheltenham

Pop.
approx:

17

practices

119GPs

Cheltenham places
greater emphasis on
healthy lifestyle and
resilient communities
The locality is starting to
work with Cheltenham
Borough Council and
other local partners to
support the development
of healthier lifestyles
and more resilient
communities in the

Covering Bishops
Cleeve, Charlton Kings,
Cheltenham, Hesters
Way, Leckhampton,
Prestbury, Springbank,
Up Hatherley,
Winchcombe

Oakley Ward.
A local neighbourhood
approach is being used
to better understand the
needs of local individuals
in partnership with
Cheltenham Borough
Homes, Gloucestershire
Constabulary, Youth
Support services, Job
Centre, Oakwood
primary school, Early
Help Social care team,
Gloucestershire Rural
Community Council,
Cornerstone, Oakwood
Children’s centre,
Cheltenham Trust, P3 and
local councillors.
A health sub-group will
look at the physical and
mental health needs
of people living in the
local area and work with
residents to encourage
healthy living.
This work reflects
the key prevention
and self-care themes
within Gloucestershire’s
Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP).
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South
Cotswolds
high quality, safe and cost
effective service.
Community Frailty
Service ensures the
best outcomes for
patients
A new community
frailty service is now in
place across the South
Cotswolds.

Healthy Marketplace
– a ‘hub’ for patients
and their families
The Healthy Marketplace
is now up and running
and has been developed
within a dedicated space
in the former Stratton
Ward at Cirencester
Hospital.

Care Services NHS Trust
has arranged a series of
specialist talks ranging
from Dementia, Lung
Health and Common
Chest Complaints to Basic
First Aid.

The vision is to: ‘increase
the knowledge, skills and
confidence of people to
improve their wellbeing
and ability to self-care’.

South Cotswolds

The main purpose of
the Healthy Marketplace
is to enable a ‘hub’ for
patients and their families
to access information
and support from local
voluntary and community
sector (VCS) groups, as
well as being a free-ofcharge space for these
groups.

Several VCS organisations
are already using the
space on a regular basis
and Gloucestershire

Cardiology
development – high
levels of GP and
patient satisfaction
reported
The introduction of
cardiology diagnostic test
equipment into South
Cotswold GP practices
has significantly reduced
the proportion of heart
rate and rhythm tests
(ECGs) taking place in the
large hospitals.

This means patients are
receiving care closer to
home and also means
that hospitals can focus
on other cardiology
related procedures.
Patients receive early
reassurance regarding
their symptoms especially
for those that are not
arrhythmic or can
be dealt with in GP
surgeries.
GP and patient
satisfaction surveys have
been carried out as well
as a review of the quality
of the ECG reports.
Findings have been
extremely positive and
point to the provision of a

58,047

Pop.
approx:

8

practices

45 GPs

GPs recognised the
need for a practice
led community service
that meets the needs
of people with frailty,
supports their carers
and allows GPs and
other health and care
professionals to be more
effective in their roles.
A Community Frailty
Team has been appointed
which includes a Senior
Community Matron,
nurses and Wellbeing Coordinators to deliver the
service.
By working seamlessly
together within the local
area, the team is able to
ensure the best outcomes
for patients and improve
the quality of care at
practice level.
The project provides
a joined up approach
to advice, support and
care for frail adults from
healthy living through to
end-of-life care.

Covering
Cirencester,
Fairford, Lechlade,
Rendcomb, Tetbury,
South Cerney,
Kemble
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Funding supports ‘Care
Navigation’ initiative
Thanks to funding
from NHS England, GP
practices in the Forest of
Dean have been training
reception and clerical
staff this year to develop
roles in active signposting
for patients.
The Forest of Dean has
been one of the first
areas to engage in this
with three practices
starting their training in
March and the remaining
practices in the following
few months.
This approach provides
patients with an initial
point of contact and
receptionists acting
as care navigators can
ensure the patient

Forest of Dean

Forest
of Dean
receives advice or care
from the right person,
first time.
It will be easier for
patients to get an
appointment with the
GP when they need it
and will reduce the time
it takes for people to get
the right help.
Clinical Pharmacists
now playing a key role
alongside GP practice
teams
GP practices in the
Forest of Dean have
now recruited clinical
pharmacists to provide
expert advice on
medicines and help
provide a joined up
approach to care in the

63,054

Pop.
approx:

11practices
43 GPs
surgery.

All the locality’s practices
are working together to
implement this initiative
with the shared aims of
improving quality,
enhancing falls prevention
and improving the safety
of prescribing.
The pharmacists will
be seeing patients and
holding clinics in practices
resulting in reduced
pressure on the GP
workforce and improved
access for patients.
Greater advice and
support to patients
with lung disease
A survey of local
patients with chronic
obstructive pulmonary

Covering Blakeney,
Coleford, Cinderford,
Drybrook, Lydney,
Mitcheldean,
Newnham-on-Severn,
Westbury-on-Severn,
Yorkley, Bream,
Ruardean, Lydbrook

disease (COPD), showed
that many had a poor
understanding of their
lung disease.
GP surgeries are now
working together
with the community
respiratory service to
offer groups of newly
diagnosed COPD patients
(and their carers) the
opportunity to attend
weekly education courses
close to home.
These sessions help
people to better
understand their disease,
make good use of their
medicines, avoid making
the condition worse and
point them in the right
direction for local services
and help.
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Tewkesbury

Newent and Staunton
Devereux Centre opens
its doors
After years of planning,
Mythe Medical Practice
and Church Street
Practice are now
operating from their
brand new purpose built
facility.
The Devereux Centre,
which is located opposite
Tewkesbury Community
Hospital, opened its
doors for the first time in
March and is providing
a high quality care
environment for patients.

Tewkesbury,
Newent and
Staunton

This fantastic new
development also means
the practices can offer a
range of other services
for local patients such as
pharmacy, counselling
services, phlebotomy
and additional consultant
rooms.

Clinical Pharmacists to
play a key role across
the locality
Church Street Practice
is reporting significant
benefits after employing
clinical pharmacists in
March 2016 and believe
they are a welcome
addition to the practice
clinical team.
The pharmacists have
been working to improve
prescribing practice, offer
patient consultations
and guidance and where
appropriate, reduce
prescribing costs.

If patients are taking a
medicine or a number
of medicines, they can
offer helpful advice
and support and are
also identifying and
advising those patients
who no longer require
medication.
This approach has now
been adopted across
the locality to include
Mythe Medical Practice,
Holts Health Centre
and Staunton & Corse
Surgery.
24 Hour ECG – offering
care closer to home
Mythe Medical Practice,
Church Street Practice,
Holts Health Centre and

42,481

Pop.
approx:

4

practices

29GPs

Staunton & Corse practice
are now offering a local
24 hour ECG (heart rate
and rhythm tests) service
to their patients providing
care closer to home.
Patients are fitted with
a 24 hour monitor in
the practice and then
have this removed the
following day with results
sent back to the GP.
These results are then
communicated to the
patient for any onward
treatment.
This initiative is providing
a speedier service, quicker
reassurance for patients
with palpitations and
quicker turn around for
results.

Covering
Tewkesbury,
Newent,
Staunton,
Corse
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Performance Report – an overview
Over the last 12 months we have seen many achievements but have also faced some
challenges. This section of the report will provide you with an overview of the CCG, our
strategy and performance in year.
About NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Gloucestershire CCG was established on the 1st April 2013 and buys (commissions) services, on behalf of
patients registered with Gloucestershire GPs, to meet the health needs of the population of Gloucestershire.
The CCG is a clinically led organisation with 81 GP member practices which help to shape health services based
on evidence of what works best clinically, making best use of available resources and ensuring that patient safety
and quality of service is paramount.
The CCG appointed a Governing Body to discharge the CCG responsibilities on their behalf. The Governing
Body includes four independent Lay Members as well as General Practitioners, a secondary care doctor, an
independent nurse member and executive members.
Lay members have been appointed to bring specific expertise and experience to the work of the governing body.
Their focus is strategic and impartial, providing an external view of the work of the CCG that is removed from
the day-to-day running of the organisation. Each Lay Member for Gloucestershire has specific skills which enable
them to carry out this role.
Sub Committees of the Governing Body monitor the controls in place to ensure that the CCG is carrying out its
functions in an effective manner.
The CCG employs members of staff who work alongside the GP members to carry out the work of the CCG as
set out in its plans and priorities.
The CCG commissions a wide range of hospital, community, mental health, learning
disability and primary care (GP) services.
From 1 April 2016 the CCG was approved for delegated commissioning of primary
medical care services. This means that the CCG took on responsibility from NHS
England for buying of primary care (GP) medical services (further information can be
found in the Primary Care Strategy Annual Report update).
A key role of the CCG is to work with health providers to ensure that they provide
services that meet national and local service standards such as waiting times.

Performance
Report – an
overview
Performance
Report –
performance
analysis

The CCG is placing greater emphasis on prevention, empowering people to selfmanage their health conditions where appropriate and working with partners to
develop active communities.

Primary Care
Strategy –
Annual Report
update

By developing community services and support, the CCG and local partners aim
to reduce the need for hospital stays, but work to ensure that safe, timely and
effective hospital care is there when needed.

Accountability
Report

In addition, the CCG is increasingly focused on ensuring that patient experience of
services and the effectiveness of services is a good as it can be.
The CCG works closely with other organisations that deliver services across
Gloucestershire to ensure that planning is properly coordinated with, for example,
social care, housing, voluntary and community services.
By doing this, the delivery and planning of health and social care services is
effectively joined up with organisations working together to ensure high quality
services and support to Gloucestershire residents.

Governance
Statement
Remuneration
and staff
report
The Financial
Statements
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Key issues and risks that could affect the entity in delivering its objectives
2016-17 was a key year for the CCG in which it continued to commission high quality health care services for
the patients of Gloucestershire whilst leading, with system partners, the development of the Gloucestershire
Sustainability and Transformation Plan; a complex system wide transformation of the health and care system.
The importance of maintaining and developing the richness of the collaborative work through the Programme
became a key focus for the organisation in 2016-17.
The CCG faced a challenging financial position during the year with cost increases in a number of areas such as
Funded Nursing Care, expenditure on out of county contracts and increases in hospital activity within the county.
The CCG monitored its financial position and delivery of savings closely in year and reviewed a number of areas
to provide for additional savings to ensure that the planned surplus position was delivered. There is a continued
focus on the CCG’s finances and robust monitoring of financial and activity figures remains a high priority for the
CCG in 2017-18.
In addition, the CCG has continued to monitor closely the achievement of the NHS Constitution Targets,
especially relating to emergency department performance.
The CCG and all system partners have worked together to support the work of the Systems Resilience Group in
reviewing and managing emergency department performance and factors that influence performance and put
in place measures to deflect activity into alternative and appropriate settings, encourage and support patients
to manage health conditions to prevent escalation, improve flow through the hospital and focus on longer term
preventative health schemes.
Monitoring and management of delivery of Constitution targets at the CCG’s main acute provider,
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, has been hampered during the later parts of the financial year
due to the impact of the implementation of their new Patient Administration System. There have been issues
with the transition which has meant that information flows have been very limited and the quality of information
is still being worked on. This is a key risk to the CCG and the Gloucestershire STP.
During the year, six risks graded as ‘High’ were identified by the CCG. Summarised details of these are given below:
zzNon-delivery of the Constitution standard for a maximum wait of 4 hours within the emergency department.
zzRisk around the specialised services for children and young people with mental health problems due to

specialised commissioning transferring to NHS England leading to potential fragmentation of pathways.
zzThe CCG will be using the lead provider framework for the procurement of commissioning support services.

This process may mean a different provider is chosen. This could mean disruption to services during the period
of procurement and transition.
zzRisk of failing to achieve the emergency admission reduction in line with the QIPP plan.
zzRisk to financial performance if prescribing costs are in excess of the agreed budget.
zzImplementation of Trakcare within our main acute provider has led to reporting issues for clinical

correspondence, national performance reporting and contractual management.
No significant risks have been identified that specifically relate to:
zzthe effectiveness of governance structures
zzthe responsibilities of directors and committees
zzreporting lines and accountabilities between the Governing Body, its committees and sub-committees and the

executive team
zzthe submission of timely and accurate information to assess risks to compliance with the CCG's licence.

An explanation of the going concern
The CCG is required to give an explanation of its consideration of its status as a going concern.
This is effectively in relation to its intention to continue its operations for the foreseeable future and the
awareness of any circumstances affecting this in its preparation of these financial statements.
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The CCG has prepared a five year financial plan which shows the organisation achieving its financial duties
in each of the respective years and has considered through its Audit Committee, the appropriateness of this
approach; no issues were noted which would affect this. The plan has been developed as a part of the STP
process and brings in risks identified within Gloucestershire as a whole.
This is in addition to the Secretary of State direction that, where Parliamentary funding continues to be voted to
permit the relevant services to be carried out elsewhere in the public sector, this is normally sufficient evidence of
going concern. As a result, the Governing Body of the CCG has prepared these financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The performance of the organisation 2016-17
We have made significant progress this year in delivering on our strategic objectives working closely with local
partners and also in developing the Gloucestershire STP. This plan covers the period to 2020/21 and builds on the
previous five year plan for Gloucestershire.
This includes:
zzBuilding a sustainable and effective organisation with robust governance arrangements
zzDeveloping strong leadership as commissioners
zzWorking with our partners and patients to develop and deliver ill health prevention, supporting people to take

more control over their health and well-being, enabling active communities and building strong networks of
support
zzTransforming services to meet the future needs of the population using the Clinical Programme Approach
zzWorking with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making and develop services.

Building a sustainable and effective organisation with robust governance arrangements
The CCG undertook a comprehensive review of its governance structures in 2015-16 when it took on delegated
commissioning for primary care. 2016-17 has been a year therefore where these systems and processes have
been reviewed in practice and changed where necessary. For example, the Conflicts of Interest Policy has been
amended following further guidance from NHS England.
Details of our Governance arrangements are set out in the Governance Statement in this Report.
The CCG has also discharged its duties under section 14R of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The CCG has
developed a quality strategy ‘Our Journey for Quality’ (see Quality Improvement below).

Developing strong leadership as commissioners
We have further developed our leadership role in 2016-17.
The CCG Accountable Officer has taken a lead for the Gloucestershire STP and, with the other Gloucestershire
Chief Executives, led the development of the Gloucestershire STP; this has included the implementation of a
strong governance structure which fulfils the needs of the STP but also the individual accountability of each
statutory organisation to support the implementation of the STP going forward.
The STP plan has four key programme areas, each one led by a Chief Executive:
zzEnabling active communities
zzOne Place, one budget, one system
zzClinical programme approach
zzReducing clinical variation.
The governance structure also includes four enabling workstreams and an STP Advisory Group which includes a
range of stakeholders, including District Councils and third sector organisations.
As a part of the above, the CCG has also worked to:
zzSupport the development of sustainable primary care
zzBe an active partner on the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and support the delivery plans on
tackling health inequalities, improving mental health, reducing obesity, improving health and wellbeing into
older age and reducing the harm caused by alcohol
zzPlay an instrumental role on the Leadership Gloucestershire Board.
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We are assessed on a quarterly basis by NHS England (CCG Assurance Framework 2016-17) and have been
assured as good for leadership.

Working with our partners to develop and deliver ill health prevention, support people to
take more control over their health and well-being and develop more active communities
Over the last year, we have been working with our partners to co-ordinate action on prevention and help people
to self-care. This work now comes under the Enabling Active Communities work programme for the STP.
This has involved work to stop people from becoming ill in the first place, to programmes that support people
with long term conditions, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease to better self-manage.
Following on from work started in 2015-16; we have encouraged local businesses throughout the county to sign
up to a workplace wellbeing charter. 35 businesses across the county are already involved. The Charter is an
award scheme that aims to encourage healthy environments and support the health and wellbeing of employees
(see Page 3).
We are also piloting with the Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) innovative ways to support patients with
diabetes to better manage their condition using technology. Gloucestershire will be one of only 13 areas in the
country to be part of the next phase of the rollout of the national Diabetes Prevention Programme (see Page 3).
Under the auspices of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, we are leading arrangements with local
partners to strengthen arrangements for enabling and empowering active communities. A steering group has
been established with senior representation from local councils, the voluntary and community sector, the Office
of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the NHS.

Clinical programme approach and joint working
We have further developed our Clinical Programme Group (CPG) approach in 2016-17 and the CPG approach
forms one of the four key elements of the Gloucestershire STP.
These groups bring together a range of healthcare professionals to plan and improve the patient’s journey
through care.
This year we have built on the pathways developed in 2015-16 in eye health, cancer, musculoskeletal and mental
health services and changes have been implemented in practice during the year.
Further programme groups, such as pain, respiratory and dementia are priorities for 2017-18.

One Place, one budget, one system
We are working together in Gloucestershire in a joined up way to transform the quality of care, services and
support we commission and provide to local people.
This year, we have strengthened joint commissioning arrangements with the local authority, invested further
in integrated health and social care community teams in Gloucestershire; including piloting close working
with mental health and the voluntary and community sector and started to implement the 'people and place'
community model. We have also made significant strides in developing secure systems to join up patient
information across services.
Although we believe good progress has been made, we recognise that if we are going to meet the challenges
of a growing population with more complex needs, we will have to accelerate the pace of change and be even
more ambitious and innovative in how we organise services and deliver care.
One of the key areas for development within the STP going forward is building a common culture within the NHS
and its partners in Gloucestershire. To this end, a County Wide Organisational Development Group is one of the
key enablers for the STP.

Working with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making and develop services
See ‘Patient experience and public involvement and engagement’ section.

Our Financial Performance
The CCG set a balanced budget at the start of the financial year with a planned surplus of £9.456m; this was
equivalent to the surplus achieved in 2015-16 (NHS England sets a requirement to achieve a surplus equivalent to
the prior year or 1% of our allocation, whichever is the higher, as part of good financial management).
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As a part of the planning process for 2016-17, all CCGs were required to create a 1% system risk reserve; this was
a reflection of the significant financial risk identified by NHS England, NHS Improvement and the Department of
Health in the likely combined plans for the NHS for 2016-17, especially in the provider sector.
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted
from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend nonrecurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to
the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable
to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS
Gloucestershire CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year
of £8.088m. This additional surplus has been will be carried forward for drawdown in future years.
At the end of the financial year, the CCG delivered a surplus of £9.463m prior to the inclusion of the system risk
reserve; this is an achievement given the significant financial pressures faced by the CCG in 2016-17. With the
addition of the system risk reserve, the CCG’s surplus increased to £17.551m.
The CCG achieved its financial duties in 2016-17 as follows:
Financial Summary

Programme Costs including
primary care
£m

Running Costs
£m

Total
£m

Revenue resource limit

825.634

13.589

839.223

Total net operating cost for the financial year

808.521

13.151

821.672

17.113

0.438

17.551

Surplus
Financial Summary

£m

Capital resource limit

0.19

Capital expenditure for the financial year

0.19

In addition, the CCG:
zzRemained within its maximum cash drawdown as agreed with NHS England
zzComplied with the Better Payments Practice Code (details provided within note 6.1 of the
annual accounts)
The accounts as presented have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board under the National Health Services Act 2006 (as amended).
For the financial year 2017-18 the CCG will receive an additional allocation of £1.445m for
delegated primary care and £14.6m for all other areas of expenditure excluding running or
administration costs.
The level of allocation increase is significantly lower than the previous two years and will
mean that the focus on initiatives that improve efficiency and value for money will be more
intensive in 2017-18.
The CCG, with its partners, has identified a programme of savings and opportunities
over the period from 2017-18 to 2020/21 based on the Right Care Programme and other
benchmarking information. These are informing the workstreams within the Gloucestershire
STP. Savings for the CCG will fall into two main areas:
Transactional Savings
zzThe agreement of evidence based activity planning and activity management actions
with providers including appropriate clinical controls on the access to and type of
treatment.
zzEngagement and influence on primary care prescribing behaviour and costs.
zzProcurement savings on contracts.
Service Design/Redesign
zzFor example the new pathways and services for Musculoskeletal and Ophthalmology
services.
zzInformed by the CCG’s participation in the Right Care Programme we are using
benchmarked intelligence on spend and outcomes to focus our improvement activities.
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Performance Report – performance analysis
How do we monitor performance?
The CCG’s Governing Body is responsible for discharging the duties of its constitution, which includes monitoring
and scrutinising performance. The Governing Body receives an integrated performance report at their bi-monthly
meetings in public.
The CCG has formal committees of the Board which scrutinise how the CCG and our health providers are
performing; these are the Audit Committee and the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee (for more
information about the committees and their purpose please see page 40); the Governing Body receives Finance
and Performance updates on a monthly basis at Development Sessions.
The System Resilience Group played a key role in 2016-17 in monitoring performance (becoming the A&E Delivery
Board). Its members include the chief operating officers from the NHS organisations in Gloucestershire.
The group aims to develop and maintain resilience across care pathways and support effective leadership and
operational management of high quality care delivery. It operates from a whole system perspective, considering
health and social care from primary through community to hospital care, whether statutory or independent; and
will offer systems leadership from the highest levels, to achieve these ends.
The CCG is also assessed by NHS England on a quarterly basis under the Improvement and Assessment
Framework

Sustainable Development at Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to using a sustainable approach to
commissioning healthcare services, working within its available financial, environmental and social resources to
protect and improve health now and for the future population of Gloucestershire.
The CCG is embedding sustainability in its activities via the implementation of its Sustainable Development
Management Plan which was reviewed and updated in October 2015. The CCG’s Director of Nursing &
Governance takes responsibility for Sustainability at Board level. Action on sustainability gets initiated through the
CCG’s Joint Staff Consultative Forum which reviews a sustainability topic each month. Gloucestershire CCG is also
working towards integrating environmental and social sustainability in its Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
To measure progress in improving its environmental and social sustainability the CCG is using the SDU’s Good
Corporate Citizenship Assessment Tool (GCC). Its score in 2016 was 51%. The CCG is also completing the
SDU’s sustainability reporting template annually which measures and analyses the change in the organisation’s
greenhouse gas emissions.
Moreover, the CCG has acknowledged the NHS’s ambitious target to reduce its carbon emissions1 by 80% by
2050 in line with the Climate Change Act (2008). Gloucestershire CCG has set itself an interim carbon reduction
target of 24% by 2020. To achieve its goal, the CCG is working to reduce energy consumption, minimise
pollution and waste, build resilience to a changing climate and nurture community strength and assets. Honoring
the Public Service Value Act (2012), the CCG is considering the social and environmental impact of all its
procurement and commissioning activities.

Proportions of Carbon Footprint

0.10%
0.12%

10.57%
Energy
Travel
Procurement

89.21%

Commissioning

1 In this report the terms carbon emissions, greenhouse gas emissions and carbon footprint are used interchangeably.
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In 2016-17, the total carbon footprint2 of the CCG was 178,448 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents (tCO2e).
Like last year, the commissioning of services was the highest contributor to the CCG’s greenhouse gas emissions.
Commissioning of services is responsible for 89% of the CCG’s total carbon footprint. Procurement is the second
highest contributor, responsible for 11% of the CCG’s greenhouse gas emissions. The use of energy and travel are
only adding small proportions of greenhouse gas emissions to the CCG’s overall carbon footprint.
Compared to last year the total carbon footprint of the CCG has increased by 2%. This is due to the fact, that the
greenhouse gas emissions in the areas of energy use, travel and commissioning have increased – see table 1.
Table 1: Comparison of the NHS Gloucestershire CCG carbon footprint of 2015-16 and 2016-17
Category

2015-16 tCO2e

2016-17 tCO2e

% increase tCO2e since 2015-16

Energy

275

217

-21%

Travel

128

180

40%

19,506

18,855

-3%

Commissioning

154,514

159,196

3%

Total

174,423

178,448

2%

Procurement

However, the carbon emissions associated with energy consumption have decreased caused by a reduction in
electricity use.
There has also been a decline in the CCG’s greenhouse gas emissions embedded in procurement. This is due to a
reduction in carbon emissions associated with pharmaceuticals which are responsible for 99% of procurement’s
carbon footprint. In 2016/17 the CCG has actively worked with Gloucestershire pharmacies to reduce medicine
waste resulting in a reduction of the carbon footprint of pharmaceuticals by 3.6%.
Looking at the CCG’s internal procurement (procurement excluding spend on pharmaceuticals), information
and communication technologies are the highest contributors to the carbon footprint of procurement (80%),
followed by food and catering (11%) and paper products (6%).
Benchmarking the CCG’s total greenhouse gas emissions per population, per member of staff and per operating
expenditure the carbon footprint per population measured in tCO2e per person has gone up by 2.3%. However,
the carbon footprint per staff member measured in tCO2e per WTE and per operating expenditure measured in
tCO2 per pound spend has gone down by 17% and by 1.4% respectively.
Although the majority of the CCG’s emissions relate to its commissioning activities, the organisation is also
focusing on those areas directly related to its own activities, examples are given below, all of which contribute to
reduced vehicle journeys, improved air quality and reduced wastes and carbon emissions.

Organisation Carbon Footprint
by head of population
350.00

Carbon Emissions (kgCO2e)

300.00

Energy

250.00

Travel

200.00

Commissioning

150.00

Procurement

100.00

Benchmark (CCG)

50.00

17
16
20

20
15
-1
6

5
41
20
1

20

13
-1

4

0.00

2 The term carbon footprint is used to describe the sum of all greenhouse gas emissions released in relation to an
organisation, product or service expressed in carbon dioxide equivalents.
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Measures taken by the CCG:
zzTravel – enabling staff to work from home and from partner organisations, a staff cycle to work scheme.
zzTravel – encouraging staff to use video and phone conferencing instead of travelling to meetings at other sites.

This reduces the number of cars on the road, less carbon emissions and also reduces the travel time lost for
staff.
zzTravel – encouraging staff to share cars when travelling to other sites.
zzThe CCG is also working to commission services that provide care closer to patients’ homes. This will help to

reduce carbon emissions by reducing the distance that patients need to travel to appointments.
zzWaste – the CCG has implemented some measures to minimise paper use, which include encouraging staff

to work electronically and only print emails and documents when necessary, which helps to reduce the
amount of paper used and saves energy through not using the printer. The ‘BoardPad’ system has also been
implemented for Governing Body and Committee meetings. This provides a secure portal for meeting papers
to be uploaded and accessed, without the need to print hard copies, which reduces the amount of paper
usage.

Provider Performance
The CCG recognises that the majority of its carbon emissions derive from its commissioning activity. To mitigate
this the CCG supports sustainability improvements across its provider trusts. It offers sustainability advice and
works with its largest provider trusts to share best practice and benchmark performance as part of a quarterly
sustainability forum. Moreover, all providers are asked to demonstrate their plans and policies on sustainability
as part of the CCG’s contracting processes. Gloucestershire’s main providers are implementing a number of
initiatives, examples of which are given below:
Travel to work plan – including improving the shuttle bus service, secure cycle shelter including lighting and
a salary sacrifice scheme for bikes.
Waste – changes to the way that waste is processed at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. It is now placed in a
compactor unit and taken to a waste to energy processing plant. A new can crushing machine, introduced
in July 2016 at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital resulted in 2.2 tonnes of cans being put through the crushing
machine within the first 6 months alone.
Catering – including opening a Farm Shop at Gloucestershire Royal, selling seasonal fruit and vegetables,
produce from local suppliers and in-house products.
Catering – all fish and palm oil products are from sustainable sources and dairy, bakery products, fruit and
vegetables and fresh meat are from suppliers within the county or the South-West.
An ongoing food waste programme has achieved a reduction of 50% in untouched patient meals in 2016.

Quality Improvement
The CCG places the quality and safety of patient services that it commissions as a high priority.
By working closely with our main service providers, we aim to ensure that the quality standards as described
within the NHS contract are achieved.
The Quality Team in the CCG, working with the local NHS Trusts, Ambulance Trust and primary care, have
implemented the use of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) across Gloucestershire to identify patients who
require rapid medical intervention.
This initiative was recognised with the CCG being awarded the Nursing Times patient safety award 2016.
Under section 14R of the National Health Service Act 2006, the CCG is required to provide assurance in respect
of the quality of primary care services in Gloucestershire. To provide this assurance to the CCG Primary Care
Commissioning Committee, an innovative Primary Care Assurance Framework has been developed by the CCG.
The Framework focuses on 3 key areas: Quality Improvement, Planning for Quality and Quality Assurance. Using
this framework, regular reports are presented to the Committee to provide information and assurance regarding
the quality of primary care services.
During 2016-17, all General Practice surgeries in Gloucestershire have been inspected by the CQC. The outcome
of the inspections of the 80 practices but one found that 3 practices were considered to be Outstanding, 3
Required Improvement with the remaining practices awarded Good.
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The main areas for action were in the patient safety domain with a key focus on medicines storage. All practices
achieved good or outstanding for caring. A continued focus will be maintained on patient safety in primary care
through the ‘Sign up to Safety’ initiative in 2017-18.

Patient experience and public involvement and engagement
The CCG has an approved Engagement and Experience Strategy: Our Open Culture. The strategy sets out the
principles and methods we apply to ensure we discharge our duty under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended) to involve the public in commissioning (planning, decision-making and proposals for change that will
impact on individual or groups and how health services are provided to them):
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/feedback/gccg-engagement-and-experience-strategy/
‘Our Open Culture’ Framework promotes ‘Equality’ and working in ‘Partnership’ and the desire to enable ‘Anyone
and Everyone’ to have a voice. To achieve this we provide ‘Information and good Communication’, focus on
‘Experience’ feedback and undertake good ‘Engagement and Consultation’.
This Strategy’s aim is to ensure that the CCG achieves the essential conditions and culture within the organisation
to make effective engagement a reality and to ensure that the individual’s experience of care is a driver for
quality and service improvement.
The CCG is committed to coproduction of service developments with the public. For instance all Clinical
Programme Groups include public representatives, who work alongside clinicians and managers as equal partners
to develop new care pathways and design new services.
We have worked closely with Healthwatch Gloucestershire, whose members have been involved in over 30 CCG
projects this year. Since taking on responsibility for commissioning primary medical services, we have built strong
links with GP practice Patient Participation Groups (PPG).
We have established a well-attended Gloucestershire PPG Network, which has looked at issues ranging from
the Primary Care Five Year Forward View, adult, children and young people’s mental health and new ways of
working in primary care such as the introduction of clinical pharmacists in GP practices.
We also involve a wide range of community partners, particularly those from the voluntary and community
sectors, when developing new services and approaches to improving health and wellbeing across all communities
and all of our clinical programmes are attended by patient representatives and Lay Champions.
All strategic changes are supported by comprehensive engagement and communication, including early ‘no
surprises’ conversations with the NHS Reference Group, attended by representatives from the Local Authority’s
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Healthwatch Gloucestershire.
We also have a complementary Equality and Diversity Strategy 'An Open Culture: a strategy for promoting
equality' which sets out our expectation that all staff will take responsibility for promoting equality; commission
accessible services that respond to the diverse needs of communities in Gloucestershire. The strategy also
establishes our commitment as an employer; to ensure staff have equal access to career opportunities and receive
fair treatment in the workplace:
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity/
Both strategies are supported by online resources, which we review and add to on a regular basis as new
evidence and best practice is published.
The CCG produces an annual Engagement – Experience – Equality Report
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Open-Culture-Annual-Report2016-FINAL-1.pdf
This report is supported by a series of case studies to illustrate how we put our strategies into action under the
headings of Information and Communication, Patient Experience, Engaging Our Communities and Primary Care.
These case studies, which are published on the CCG website, describe local engagement, identify what we
learned and the outcome and set out the next steps:
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity/case-studies/
We also have a series of short videos which are examples of Real Life Stories:
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/multimedia/patient-stories/
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Governance and assurance
The CCG has created an Engagement and Experience Team, which is our infrastructure. The Team acts as a
catalyst for change within the CCG, promoting through its actions, the adoption of an organisational culture
which values working with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making and ‘Promotes the rights
and responsibilities set out in the NHS Constitution within the CCG and the wider community’.
The Engagement and Experience Team, which includes the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) to deal with
both enquiries about commissioning and also primary medical services, is crucial to the successful delivery of our
engagement, experience and equality Strategies. It is through their skills and experience, and their influence and
involvement with other CCG staff that we demonstrate ‘Our open culture.’
Regular Engagement and Experience reports summarising experience and engagement feedback and activities
are prepared for the CCG’s Integrated Governance and Quality Committee (which reports to the Governing Body)
and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
Individual reports are also prepared relating to specific activities such as Outcome of Engagement Reports. The
types of engagement and experience data referred to in reports include for example quantitative and qualitative
survey responses, the Friends and Family Test, commentary from events such as focus groups and workshops and
filmed real life stories.
In addition to data collected by ourselves and other health and care partners in the county, we also pay due
regard to reports published by Healthwatch Gloucestershire and others. In the last year we have responded to
Healthwatch Gloucestershire reports on subjects ranging from Access to Health and Support Services by the
Trans Community and their Families and Enter and View Reports focussing on Dementia Care in both acute and
community hospitals in the county.
Our Experience and Safety Team have provided excellent support and prompt responses to queries from
members of the public through the CCG Patient Advice and Liaison Service.
Our Information Bus has visited all corners, and places in between, of the county, attending hundreds of events
and promoting healthy messages including: ASAP, children’s vaccinations, stay safe and well for winter, sexual
health and was once again used as a rural venue for seasonal flu vaccinations.

Future plans
Working with our partners across the health and social care system in Gloucestershire, a key focus for 201718 will be activity to support engagement and consultation associated with the county’s Sustainability and
Development Plan (STP). A communication and engagement strategy and plan has been developed to support
the STP approach, to ensure comprehensive and planned engagement and communication with the public and
key stakeholders.
The plan is a two phase approach; with Phase One covering a three month engagement with the public,
patients, community partners and staff regarding new models of care and new ways of working and Phase Two
covering more detailed proposals for service change to commence towards the end of 2017. Phase 1 engagement
concluded at the end of February 2017.
The Outcome of Engagement Report, which is available on the STP website: www.gloucestershireSTP.net has
been circulated widely amongst partners and made available to the public. The feedback received will be used to
inform the development of proposals for future change.

Reducing health inequalities
Our Equality and Diversity Strategy 'An Open Culture: a strategy for promoting equality' sets out our commitment
to promoting equality and reducing health inequalities and to commission accessible services that respond to the
diverse needs of communities in Gloucestershire.
The strategy sets out the principles and methods we apply to ensure we discharge our duty under Section 14ZT
of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to reduce inequalities.
The strategy also establishes our commitment as an employer; to ensure staff have equal access to career
opportunities and receive fair treatment in the workplace.
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity/
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The CCG’s annual Engagement – Experience – Equality Report http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Open-Culture-Annual-Report-2016-FINAL-1.pdf demonstrates, through a
series of case studies, work that links to the Equalities agenda and highlights our progress in delivering the CCG’s
Equality Action Plan. We are currently reviewing our equality performance using Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)
and will publish our assessment against the eighteen goals and outcomes on the CCG website in due course.
The CCG continues to support the countywide health inequalities plan which is a key priority within
Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The plan aligns with the 6 policy objectives outlined with the Marmot Fair Society, Healthy Lives Report; giving
every child the best start in life; enabling all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and
have control over their lives; creating fair employment and good work for all; ensuring a healthy standard of living
for all; creating and developing sustainable places and communities; strengthening the role and impact of illhealth prevention. Examples of progress against these priorities include:
zzSocial Prescribing is now available in all GP Practices across the county and referrals are accepted from

Integrated Community Teams (ICTs) and staff in Community Hospitals. Over 2,047 patients have accessed the
scheme since 2014. Social prescribing provides non-medical support that addresses the wider determinants of
health which are key drivers for health inequalities.
zz36% of primary and 33% of secondary schools within the most deprived areas have received training through

our Facts4life initiative. Facts4Life is an innovative programme that teaches children about illness, resilience
and self-care and provides an opportunity to establish healthy behaviours at an early age.
zzThe CCG are working with Macmillan Cancer Support to develop an innovative community-based service,

Macmillan Next Steps Cancer Rehabilitation. Gloucester City has been one of our key pilot areas working
with priority patient cohorts including some less affluent groups and people from BME communities. The
team have run a number of engagement workshops to build awareness and use of the service including with
people from the Chinese community and specifically on prostate cancer with black Afro-Caribbean men.
zzThe patient activation measure (see also page 4) is being rolled out across the county. Over 1,000 patients

at high risk of a hospital admission have received personalised care and support. An innovative pilot is being
undertaken with the housing Provider ‘Homegroup’ to support 100 individuals who experience issues relating
to poor mental health, learning disability, addiction, offending or social isolation.
zzMidwifery Partnership Teams – small teams of midwives based in the most deprived parts of the county

are giving intensive support to the most vulnerable women including healthy lifestyle advice and smoking
cessation support.
zzLocal VCS organisation, Kingfisher Treasure Seekers (KFTS) have been commissioned to run a café for people

aged over 18 with mental health needs which may include learning disabilities, offering support and low
level therapy. Furthermore, KFTS are able to provide holistic support to these individuals which may include
supporting people to gain work experience or access education.
zzLocal VCS organisation, Teens in Crisis have been commissioned to provide online and face to face counselling

for children and young people with low level mental health needs. This ensures that more children and young
people are accessing support at an earlier stage reducing the need for referral to CYPS, and ensures that all
children and young people, including those that are hard to reach, are accessing help.
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Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The CCG continues to play an important role in the implementation of Gloucestershire’s Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
This involves working in partnership with our health and social care partners across the five priorities; obesity,
alcohol, older people, health inequalities and mental health.
A Prevention and Self-Care Board has been established which is chaired by the Director of Public Health. The new
group provides system leadership through the delivery of the Prevention and Self-Care Plan as part of the STP.
The plan sets out our system wide ambitions to ‘scale-up’ prevention through empowering individuals and
enabling active communities. The CCG has provided significant investment (both capital and revenue) to support
the delivery of the Prevention and Self-Care Plan.
The CCG has either directly led or supported the following key deliverables:
zzCommissioned a range of preventative measures aimed at improving health in a range of settings i.e. Daily

Mile (schools), Workplace Wellbeing Charter
zzSupported individuals to lead healthy lives and take greater responsibility for their health i.e. Integrated

Healthy Lifestyles Service, Patient Activation Measure
zzContinued to connect over 1,000 individuals to non-medical sources of support through social prescribing
zzA transformation programme working across our children and adult obesity care pathways. This includes

working with GCC public health, Leeds Beckett University and PHE on developing whole system approaches
to obesity.

Constitution Standards 2016-17
The CCG aims to ensure that local patients benefit from the best quality care through meeting targets set out in
the NHS Constitution. CCG performance is monitored by the Governing Body throughout the year.
Where issues persist, an investigation is undertaken by the CCG and the CCG works with the provider concerned
to try to remedy the issue. Contractual measures may also be used.
2016-17 has been a very challenging year with regards to performance against NHS constitutional targets and the
CCG and local providers have been working through a number of issues to try to improve the position.
Performance indicators relating to the urgent care system were already below national target levels in 2015-16
and remain challenging with the pressures on the overall urgent care system. In addition to this, these challenges
have negatively impacted on performance in elective care. Reducing waiting lists and waiting times across
elective and urgent care respectively will be a priority for the Gloucestershire System in 2017-18.
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2016-17 Performance against the NHS Constitution Indicators is given below with the standards being achieved:
2016-17
Status

2017-18
forecast

Ambulance Category 8 minute Response – 70% Target

Green

Green

Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

Green

Green

Cancer – first definitive treatment within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis

Green

Green

Cancer – subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – Surgery

Green

Green

Cancer – subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – Drug Regime

Green

Green

Cancer - subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – Radiotherapy

Green

Green

62 day wait for first treatment following referral from an NHS cancer screening service

Green

Green

62 day wait for first treatment for cancer following a consultant’s decision to upgrade
the patient priority

Green

Green

Dementia Diagnosis rate

Green

Green

However, there are some areas where the performance has fallen short of the required targets or standards in
2016-17 which require particular attention in the year ahead to improve performance. These are:

The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete
pathways at the end of the period
All cancer 2 week waits
Diagnostic test waiting times – under 6 week waits
Referral to Treatment pathways greater than 52 weeks
62 day cancer target (percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for
cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer)
Four hour A&E target
Cancelled operations not rebooked within 28 days
Mixed sex accommodation breaches
IAPT access and recovery rate

2016-17
Status

2017-18
forecast

Red

Amber

Amber
Red
Red

Green
Green
Amber

Red

Amber

Red
Red
Red
Red

Red
Green
Green
Green

The tables above relate to NHS Constitution requirements. The method of calculation can be found at:
www.england.nhs.uk/everyonecounts

Referral to Treatment (RTT): The CCG has seen performance decline during the second half of the year
with the number of incomplete pathways seen within 18 weeks drop below the 92% national standard. Long
waiters (those with incomplete pathways over 52 weeks) have predominantly occurred at specialist centres for
patients with complex spinal/neurosurgical needs. The CCG has identified continued pressures within Trauma
& Orthopaedics, General Surgery and Urology, and is providing support by undertaking demand and capacity
modelling, and the use of alternative providers where clinically appropriate.
4 hours emergency department wait: Delivery of this target has been very challenging, with key actions
focused on discharge of patient from the hospital and ensuring that all providers involved in urgent care are
working to ensure the most effective system for the patient. The CCG continues to implement 11 work programmes
to increase urgent and emergency care system resilience to ensure that the system can cope with peaks in demand.
These actions are set out in our system resilience plans and focus upon self-care, signposting, admission avoidance,
reduction in acute bed base capacity, in-hospital care, hospital discharge and community services.
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Diagnostic waits: The proportion of patients waiting over 6 weeks for a diagnostic procedure has improved
from the previous year, but still remains below the national target. There is on-going concern regarding capacity
within the Audiology specialty, which the Trust will look to address in 2017-18.
Cancer waiting times: Delivery of cancer targets has been pressured with increased demand for 2 week waits
throughout 2016-17. Urology continues to be an area of concern. The CCG has worked closely with the Trust and
NHS improvement to agree a plan for recovery in 2017-18, including pathway reviews and the introduction of a
multi assessment and diagnostic cancer clinic.

Mental health targets: Gloucestershire CCG continues to meet dementia diagnosis rates achieving the
66.7% standard in 2016-17. IAPT Recovery rates are expected to achieve target of 50% from the first quarter of
2017-18, with a recovery trajectory agreed with 2gether NHS Foundation Trust and NHS England to bring IAPT
Access rates back to target during the year.
Quality Premium
The Quality Premium is intended to reward the CCG for improvements in the quality of the services that we
commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities:
Domain

Description

Urgent and
emergency care

Increase in the number of patients admitted for non-elective reasons,
who are discharged at weekends or bank holidays
Reduction in the number of patients with A&E 4 hour breaches who
have attended with a mental health need together with a defined
improvement in coding of patients attending A&E

Mental health

Antibiotic Prescribing improving antibiotic prescribing in primary and secondary care
Local Measure
Local Measure

Increase in the number of people with diabetes diagnosed less than a
year who are referred to structured education
Increase the number of people who have had a stroke who are
discharged from hospital with a joint health and social care plan

Achievement
Achieved
Not Achieved
Achieved
Achieved
Not Achieved

The total quality premium payment for a CCG will be reduced if its providers do not meet the NHS Constitution
rights or pledges for patients in the following key indicators:
NHS Constitution Indicator

Achievement

Ensure that patients start their consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from
referral for non-urgent conditions

Not Achieved

Four hour A&E target

Not Achieved

Ambulance clinical quality – Category A – 8 (Red 1) minute response
Maximum two week (14-day) wait from urgent GP referral to first outpatient appointment for
suspected cancer

Achieved
Not Achieved

CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework
CCGs play a major role in achieving good health outcomes for the population that they serve. NHS England
has designed a set of outcome measures (or domains), described below, that help to demonstrate how well an
individual CCG is tackling important health outcomes.
All CCGs are assessed on a quarterly basis by Area teams of NHS England against these domains/indicators based
on a standardised framework.
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The framework is intended as a focal point for joint work and support between NHS England and CCGs, and was
developed with input from NHS Clinical Commissioners, CCGs, patient groups and charities. It draws together the
NHS Constitution, performance and finance metrics and transformational challenges and will play an important
part in the delivery of the Five Year Forward View.
Domain
Better Health
Better Care

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4 forecast

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires Improvement Requires Improvement Requires Improvement Requires Improvement

Sustainability

Good

Good

Good

Good

Leadership

Good

Good

Good

Good

Mary Hutton
Accountable Officer
25 May 2017
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Primary Care Strategy – Annual Report
update
Foreword by Clinical Chair, Dr Andy Seymour
“From my own personal experience, and talking to my GP colleagues, it is clear that many practices are feeling
the strain of an increased demand for services, caring for a growing population with more complex needs,
recruiting enough doctors and nurses with the right experience and skills along with a continued pressure on
finances.
Despite these pressures, our practices continue to deliver the highest quality care for our patients, with patient
satisfaction high (GP Survey, 2016) and the vast majority of practices being rated good or better by the Care
Quality Commission (CQC). However, we recognise this is becoming increasingly difficult for our member practices.
I am therefore serious about change for GP practices in Gloucestershire. Not for the sake of change itself, but
in order to deliver the vibrant, sustainable, high quality primary care service that we all aspire to and that our
population deserve.
This is why, this year, we have developed an ambitious five year Primary Care Strategy (the full and summary
versions can be found at www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk – publications section) with a vision developed from
countywide sessions with our GP practices:
We are focusing on six key themes to deliver our vision:
1. Access
2. Primary Care at scale – GP practices working together
3. Integration – joined up teams in your community
4. Greater use of technology
5. GP Premises
6. Developing the workforce.
We are delivering these themes in combination with our plans to deliver the General Practice Forward View
(GPFV) in Gloucestershire and brief updates are included in the information that follows. As you’ll see, we have
already started delivery of our ambitions and I look forward to seeing this work come to fruition over the next
few years bringing benefits to our member practices and our population.”

In January 2017, we held an all-day Gloucestershire GPFV event for all practices to attend, focusing on the “Ten
High Impact Actions” within the GPFV and benefiting from some exemplary national speakers. With over 200
members in attendance, this has given further momentum to our work on delivery of our Primary Care Strategy.
A brief update across each of the six components of the Strategy is below:
Access – Evenings and weekends; flexible to patient needs
We have continued to offer Choice+ clinics throughout the county over the last year, providing additional
appointments for patients during the day, evening and at weekends.
As an early NHS England pilot site, we will continue to receive funding from 17/18 onwards and look forward to
building on the success of our initial pilot. Furthermore, our social prescribing scheme for non-medical sources of
community support and activities continues to thrive.

Primary Care at Scale – Working closer together to deliver a greater range of services for around 30,000 patients
We are investing in practice transformation, making recurrent funding available to our GP practices to work
together to provide more services in their communities and improve their resilience and sustainability.
Sixteen clusters have formed across the county, incorporating all 81 practices, as part of this work – see table
below. Schemes include clinical pharmacists and mental health practitioners working across practices, and
community matrons supporting more elderly, frail patients meaning they can stay at home and be cared for in
their community.
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Locality
Cheltenham (three clusters,
c. 50,000 patients each

Forest of Dean (c. 63,000)
Gloucester City
(five clusters, c. 18,000-41,000)

Cluster collaborations
St Pauls – Corinthian, Portland, Royal Well, St Catherines's, St George's
Central – Berkeley Place, Crescent Bakery, Overton Park, Royal Crescent, Springbank,
Underwood, Yorkleigh
Peripheral – Leckhampton, Sixways, Seven Posts, Stoke Rd, Winchcombe
All eleven practices in one cluster: Blakeney, Brunston, Coleford, Dockham,
Drybrook, Forest Health Care, Lydney, Mitcheldean, Newnham, Severnbank, Yorkley
Rosebank, Hadwen and Quedgeley
Bartongate, Gloucester City Health Centre, Partners in Health, Kingsholm
Brockworth, Hucclecote, Gloucester Health Access Centre
Cheltenham Road, Churchdown, College Yard, Longlevens
Barnwood, London, Heathville, Saintbridge

North Cotswolds (c. 29,000)

All five practices in one cluster: Chipping Campden, Cotswold Medical, Mann
Cottage, Stow, White House

South Cotswolds (c. 58,000)

All eight practices in one cluster: Avenue, Hilary, Lechlade, Park, Phoenix, Rendcomb,
Romney, St Peters

Cluster 1: Acorn, Cam & Uley, Chipping, Culverhay, Marybrook, Walnut Tree
Cluster 2: Beeches Green, Locking Hill, Rowcroft, Stroud Valleys
(four clusters, c. 18,000 - 39,000) Cluster 3: Frampton, High Street, Regent Street, Stonehouse
Cluster 4: Frithwood, Minchinhampton, Painswick, Prices Mill

Stroud and Berkeley Vale

Tewkesbury, Newent and
All four practices in one cluster: Church Street, Mythe, Newent, Staunton & Corse
Staunton
(c. 43,000)
Integration – across pathways esp. urgent care, maximising partnerships in place-based care
Our GP practices are starting to work as part of integrated (joined-up) teams of multi-disciplinary professionals
(including community, voluntary and hospital services) for the benefit of a defined population of approximately
30,000 patients. We have begun piloting place-based models of care in Stroud & Berkeley Vale and Gloucester
City and will use the learning from these to inform developments countywide.

Greater use of technology – online patient records, booking appointments, apps, self care, Skpe
Some of our practices have already been piloting forms of e-consultation and online consultation and will be
building on this over the following years, with funding from the GPFV and taking local and national learning of
best practice.
Furthermore, we have made successful bids to the Estates and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) for the
redesign of Primary Care IT to support our strategy, along with work to join-up information sharing across services.

Estates – improve the Primary Care estate to be fit for the future
We have developed a Primary Care Infrastructure Plan: (http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2012/12/Primary-care-infrastructure-Plan-2016-to-2021-approved.pdf) that supports the
ambitions of our Primary Care Strategy. We have work underway with all 12 prioritised schemes with business
cases being developed over 2017-18 and 2018-19. We are utilising the ETTF scheme to secure national funding
where possible.
We have also been working to finalise committed developments to practical completion, including the newly
opened Devereux Centre in Tewkesbury Town Centre for Mythe Practice and Church Street Surgery.

Developing the workforce – attracting and retaining talent; an expanded workforce
Our focus has been on the recruitment, retention and return of the general practice workforce.
With newly established Primary Care Workforce and Education Workstreams and a Gloucestershire Community
Education Provider Network (CEPN), we have quickly moved forward with a number of initiatives. These include a
campaign with the BMJ called ‘Be a GP in Gloucestershire’ (www.beagpingloucestershire.co.uk), along with
investment in practice nurse training and education.
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Accountability Report
– corporate governance report
Members Report
Member profiles
Profiles of members of NHS Gloucestershire CCG’s Governing Body are available at:
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/the-governing-body/member-profiles/

Member practices – a listing, by Locality, of each of the 81 member practices can be found at http://www.
gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/localities. The split of practices by locality can also be referenced on
pages 14 to 20 of this document.

Composition of the Governing Body – this information is included in the Governance Statement.
Committee(s), including Audit Committee – this information is included in the Governance Statement.
Register of Interests – this information is available at:
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Copy-of-Declarations-ofInterest-Register_Live-2Forwebsite.pdf

Personal data related incidents
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved confirms:
zzSo far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor is unaware

that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
zzThe member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or herself aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Gloucestershire CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking, but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have an
Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS
England has appointed the Accountable Officer of NHS Gloucestershire CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter. They include responsibilities for:
zzThe propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable
zzKeeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial

position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction)
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zzSafeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities)
zzThe relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money
zzEnsuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance with

Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended))
zzEnsuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the National Health

Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out
in the Accounts Direction.
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash
flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in particular to:
zzObserve the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure

requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis
zzMake judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
zzState whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual issued by the

Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and, Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
zzAs far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and

that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.
zzThat the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I take personal

responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.
Mary Hutton
Accountable Officer
25 May 2017
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April
2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG’s) statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the
purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of
certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 1 April 2016, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the
National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public
funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered prudently and economically
and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I
also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the Clinical
Commissioning Group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the Group has made appropriate arrangements for
ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with such generally
accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The Constitution of the Clinical Commissioning Group establishes the principles and values in commissioning care
for the people of Gloucestershire. The Constitution outlines the governance structure of the organisation and
details the role and responsibilities of the Governing Body, its members and sub-committees.
The Governing Body has the functions conferred on it by sections 14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, inserted
by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with any other functions connected with its main functions as may be
specified in regulations. The Governing Body:
a. ensures the Clinical Commissioning Group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance
b. determines the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing
services to the Clinical Commissioning Group and the allowances payable under any pension scheme it may
establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act
c. approves any functions of the Clinical Commissioning Group that are specified in regulations that the
membership will delegate to their Governing Body
d. ensures that the register of interests is reviewed regularly, and updated as necessary
e. ensures that all conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest are declared.
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During the year, the Governing Body comprised the
following members:
CCG Chair – Helen Miller (to 30th April 2016)
CCG Chair – Andy Seymour (from 1st May 2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Andy Seymour (to 30th April
2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Hein Le Roux (from 5th July
2016)
GP Member – Caroline Bennett
GP Member – Charles Buckley
GP Member – Malcolm Gerald (to 13th January 2017)
GP Member – Tristan Lench
GP Member – Will Haynes
GP Member – Hein Le Roux (to 4th July 2016)
GP Member – Jeremy Welch
Accountable Officer – Mary Hutton
Chief Finance Officer – Cath Leech
Director of Public Health – Sarah Scott
Director of Adult Social Care – Margaret Willcox

Registered Nurse – Julie Clatworthy
Secondary Care Specialist – Raju Reddy
Vice Chair and Lay Member (Patient and Public
Engagement) – Alan Elkin
Lay Member (Governance) – Colin Greaves
Lay Member (Business) – Valerie Webb (to 31st May
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Peter Marriner (from 1st
January 2017)
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement) – Jo
Davies
Executive Nurse and Quality Lead – Marion AndrewsEvans
Director of Commissioning Implementation – Mark
Walkingshaw
Director of Transformation and Service Redesign –
Ellen Rule
Director of Locality Development and Primary Care –
Helen Goodey
Director of Integration (non-voting) – Kim Forey (from
1st December 2016)

The terms of reference for the Governing Body, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
Scheduled meetings of the Governing Body took place on a bi-monthly basis. These meetings received regular
performance reports along with updates on specific issues that arose during the year. In addition the meetings
also considered and approved a number of planning, contracting and service proposals.
The scheduled meetings were supplemented by three extraordinary meetings convened to discuss urgent
planning and contractual issues.
The Governing Body has established the following five committees:
zzAudit Committee
zzRemuneration Committee
zzIntegrated Governance and Quality Committee
zzPriorities Committee
zzPrimary Care Commissioning Committee.

The Audit Committee provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s financial risk, financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws,
regulations and directions governing the organisation in so far as they relate to finance. The Audit Committee
Terms of Reference include the role of the Auditor Panel.
During the year, the Audit Committee comprised the
following members:
Lay Member (Governance) and Audit Committee
Chair – Colin Greaves
Deputy Clinical Chair – Andy Seymour (to 30th April
2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Hein Le Roux (from 5th July
2016)
GP Member – Hein Le Roux (to 4th July 2016)

GP Member – Will Haynes (from 20th September
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Valerie Webb (to 31st May
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Peter Marriner (from 1st
January 2017)
Vice Chair and Lay Member (Patient and Public
Engagement) – Alan Elkin

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
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The Audit Committee met on six occasions during the year and received regular updates from the internal and
external auditors as well as the provider of counter fraud services. The meetings also considered the annual
accounts along with updated versions of various CCG registers.
The Remuneration Committee considers the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for
people who provide services to the Clinical Commissioning Group and allowances under any pension scheme
that the Group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.
During the year, the Remuneration Committee
comprised the following members:
Vice Chair, Lay Member (Patient and Public
Engagement) and Remuneration Committee Chair –
Alan Elkin
CCG Chair – Helen Miller (to 30th April 2016)
CCG Chair – Andy Seymour (from 1st May 2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Andy Seymour (to 30th April
2016)

Deputy Clinical Chair – Hein Le Roux (from 5th July
2016)
GP Member – Jeremy Welch
Lay Member (Governance) – Colin Greaves
Lay Member (Business) – Valerie Webb (to 31st May
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Peter Marriner (from 1st
January 2017)
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement) – Jo
Davies

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum
for meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
The Remuneration Committee met on three occasions during the year and approved an annual pay award and
the salaries of individual very senior managers.
The role of the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee is to ensure that controls and processes are in
place to continuously improve the delivery of healthcare services to the people of Gloucestershire, so ensuring
that the services are of high quality, clinically effective and safe, within available resources. The Committee
ensures that controls are in place and are operating efficiently and effectively to deliver the principal objectives
of the Governing Body and to set in place processes to manage identified risks, minimising the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s exposure to corporate, and clinical risks. The Committee has a pro-active approach to
the management of risk and quality, ensuring the organisation learns and takes appropriate corrective action.
During the year, the Integrated Governance and
Quality Committee comprised the following
members:
Registered Nurse and IGQC Chair – Julie Clatworthy
CCG Chair – Helen Miller (to 30th April 2016)
CCG Chair – Andy Seymour (from 1st May 2016)
GP Member – Caroline Bennett
GP Member – Charles Buckley
GP Member – Tristan Lench
Accountable Officer – Mary Hutton
Chief Finance Officer – Cath Leech

Director of Public Health – Sarah Scott
Lay Member (Governance) – Colin Greaves
Lay Member (Business) – Valerie Webb (to 31st May
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Peter Marriner (from 1st
January 2017)
Vice Chair and Lay Member (Patient and Public
Engagement) – Alan Elkin
Executive Nurse and Quality Lead (Marion AndrewsEvans)
Director of Commissioning Implementation and
Deputy Accountable Officer – Mark Walkingshaw

The terms of reference for the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee, contained within the Constitution,
states the quorum for meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
The Integrated Governance and Quality Committee met on six occasions during the year and received various
updates on quality and governance issues, including the Risk Register and Assurance Framework. The Committee
also approved a number of policies on behalf of the Governing Body.
The purpose of the Priorities Committee is to advise the local NHS health economy as to the health care
interventions and policies that should be given high or low priority. The Priorities Committee helps the Clinical
Commissioning Group and its Localities choose how to allocate its resources to promote the health of the local
community, based on the local health needs assessment.
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During the year, the Priorities Committee comprised
the following members:
CCG Chair – Helen Miller (to 30th April 2016)
CCG Chair – Andy Seymour (from 1st May 2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Andy Seymour (to 30th April
2016)
Deputy Clinical Chair – Hein Le Roux (from 5th July
2016)
GP Member – Caroline Bennett
GP Member – Charles Buckley
GP Member – Malcolm Gerald (to 13th January
2017)
GP Member – Tristan Lench
GP Member – Will Haynes
GP Member – Hein Le Roux (to 4th July 2016)
GP Member – Jeremy Welch
Accountable Officer – Mary Hutton
Chief Finance Officer – Cath Leech
Director of Public Health – Sarah Scott
Director of Adult Social Care – Margaret Willcox

Registered Nurse – Julie Clatworthy
Secondary Care Specialist – Raju Reddy
Vice Chair and Lay Member (Patient and Public
Engagement) – Alan Elkin
Lay Member (Governance) – Colin Greaves
Lay Member (Business) – Valerie Webb (to 31st May
2016)
Lay Member (Business) – Peter Marriner (from 1st
January 2017)
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement) – Jo
Davies
Executive Nurse and Quality Lead – Marion
Andrews-Evans
Director of Commissioning Implementation – Mark
Walkingshaw
Director of Transformation and Service Redesign –
Ellen Rule
Director of Locality Development and Primary Care
– Helen Goodey
Director of Integration (non-voting) – Kim Forey
(from 1st December 2016)

The terms of reference for the Priorities Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
The Priorities Committee met on seven occasions to principally prioritise business cases and consider planning issues.
The purpose of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee is to manage the delivery of those elements of the
primary care healthcare services delegated by NHS England to the Clinical Commissioning Group working within
the context of the overall Clinical Commissioning Group Plan. The Committee seeks to ensure that the people of
Gloucestershire receive primary care services that are of high quality, clinically effective and safe, within available
resources.
During the year, the Primary Care Commissioning
Committee comprised the following members:
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement) and
PCCC Chair – Alan Elkin
Lay Member (Governance) – Colin Greaves
Lay Member (Patient and Public Engagement) – Jo
Davies
Accountable Officer – Mary Hutton
Chief Finance Officer – Cath Leech

Executive Nurse and Quality Lead – Marion
Andrews-Evans
Registered Nurse – Julie Clatworthy
GP Member (Andy Seymour).
In addition to the above, the following were invited
to meetings as non-voting attendees:
Healthwatch representative
Health and Wellbeing representative
NHS England Area Team representative

The terms of reference for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee, contained within the Constitution, states
the quorum for meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.
Scheduled meetings of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee took place on a bi-monthly basis. These
meetings received various updates and quality information and considered specific issues relating to individual
practices.
A self-assessment of the effectiveness of the Governing Body was undertaken in February 2017. The results from
the self assessment show that members believe that on the whole the Governing Body is functioning effectively.
An action plan is now being progressed to take forward the identified governing body development and training
needs.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
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The guidance contained within the UK Corporate Governance Code (Sept 2012) and the NHS CCG Code of
Governance (Nov 2013) has been followed. I consider that the organisation complies with the principles and
standards of best practices.
The arrangements in place for the discharge of statutory functions have been reviewed for any irregularities as
part of the internal and external audit work and are considered to be legally compliant. Further assurance has
been obtained through the work of the Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer, the Governing Body and the
Audit Committee.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has followed guidance issued by NHS England on the role and powers of
clinical commissioning groups and employs experienced and well qualified staff. Legal advice and the views of
the NHS England Local Area Team have been sought to obtain clarification and interpretation of laws, regulations
and guidance, where appropriate.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other
associated legislative and regulations. As a result,
I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates have confirmed
that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
The risk and control framework is outlined in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Risk Management Policy. This
document, along with the Risk Management Procedure, provides guidance on:
zzrisk identification
zzrisk analysis and assessment
zzrisk treatment and control
zzrisk reporting
zzcommunication and training
zzmonitoring and review.

Directorate Risk Registers are maintained and amalgamated into, and form, the Corporate Risk Register. The
management of identified risks is the responsibility of nominated managers. The Corporate Risk Register
was presented to the bi-monthly meetings of the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee, where the
acceptability of the risk and the adequacy of the action plans were considered.
The more significant strategic risks were also included in the Assurance Framework which was presented
regularly to meetings of both the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee and the Governing Body. The
primary function of the Assurance Framework is to outline the assurances that will be provided to the Governing
Body regarding the achievement of the organisation’s Annual Objectives.
The risk management processes, outlined in the Risk Management Policy and Procedure, and the risk reporting
structure ensures that risk management has a high-profile in the organisation and is considered as an integral
part of the organisation’s activities.
An ethical framework has been developed to support the Clinical Commissioning Group’s decision making
process. All service change proposals are subject to equality impact assessments, the outcomes of which are
considered as part of the decision making process. All senior staff have received training in undertaking equality
impact assessments. In addition, all staff are required to undertake on-line equality and diversity training.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is regularly in contact with approximately 1,500 local public stakeholders
through its stakeholder database. Stakeholders were invited to participate in engagement and consultation
activities regarding proposed changes to services and were also invited to inform the procurement or reprocurement of services.
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Capacity to Handle Risk
As stated above, the Governing Body received details of the most significant risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group through the Assurance Framework, presented to the bi-monthly meeting. The Integrated
Governance and Quality Committee also reviewed the Assurance Framework along with the Risk Register at
every meeting.
Each executive director was responsible for maintaining their own directorate risk register.
The governance structure and the roles of the Governing Body and the five committees are detailed in the
‘Governance arrangements and effectiveness’ section, above.
A detailed performance report was presented to each scheduled meeting of the Governing Body which
highlighted the risks to compliance with the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory obligations.
Risk Management training was included on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s induction programme which ran
throughout the year. In addition, Risk Management briefings were provided to directorate team meetings.
Appended to the Risk Management Policy is a detailed Risk Management Procedure which provides full guidance
to managers and staff regarding the identification, recording and management of risks. The Risk Management
Policy is available to all members of staff via the Clinical Commissioning Group intranet.

Risk Assessment
Identified risks are assessed by the responsible managers in terms of likelihood and significance, using the matrix
recommended by the National Patient Safety Agency. For all risks identified, remedial action plans were devised
and the progress of these monitored by directorates and the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee
on behalf of the Governing Body. Details of the most fundamental risks were also reported to each scheduled
meeting of the Governing Body by way of the Assurance Framework.
During the year, six risks graded as ‘High’ were identified by Clinical Commissioning Group managers.
Summarised details of these are given below:
zzNon-delivery of the Constitution standard for maximum wait of 4 hours within the emergency department.
zzRisk around the specialised services for children and young people with mental health problems due to

specialised commissioning transferring to NHS England leading to potential fragmentation of pathways.
zzThe CCG will be using the lead provider framework for the procurement of commissioning support services.

This process may mean a different provider is chosen. This could mean disruption to services during the period
of procurement and transition.
zzRisk of failing to achieve the emergency admission reduction in line with the QIPP plan.
zzRisk to financial performance if prescribing costs are in excess of the agreed budget.
zzImplementation of Trakcare within our main acute provider has led to reporting issues for clinical

correspondence, national performance reporting and contractual management.
No significant risks have been identified that specifically relate to:
zzthe effectiveness of governance structures
zzthe responsibilities of directors and committees
zzreporting lines and accountabilities between the Governing Body, its committees and sub-committees and the

executive team
zzthe submission of timely and accurate information to assess risks to compliance with the Clinical

Commissioning Group’s licence.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the Clinical Commissioning
Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
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The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
Appended to the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Constitution are the following documents that form the basis
of the internal control systems embedded within the organisation:
zzStanding Orders
zzScheme of Reservation and Delegation
zzDetailed Scheme of Delegation
zzPrime Financial Policies.

The Chief Finance Officer reported on any risks to the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group at
each meeting of the Governing Body. The Governing Body has also received updates on progress with the agreed
QIPP efficiency programmes which are integral to the delivery of the financial plans.
Miscellaneous matters such as single tender actions and losses and special payments were reported to the Audit
Committee.
The Audit Committee provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the Group’s
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the
Group insofar as they relate to finance. The Governing Body has approved, and keeps under review, the terms of
reference for the Audit Committee.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Standing Orders and Prime Financial Policies form the foundation of the
control structure that ensures resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively. These documents are
supplemented by budgetary control and other financial policies and procedures.
The internal audit service reviews core financial systems and budgetary control provided assurance regarding
these processes.
A detailed performance report is provided to each scheduled meeting of the Governing Body. These reports
provide an overview of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s compliance against the organisational objectives and
financial targets.
The services commissioned are being constantly monitored to ensure they are appropriate and of a good quality
by way of the service redesign processes and QIPP monitoring.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016) requires CCGs
to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this
task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
A review of the conflicts of interest processes has been carried out by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal
auditors. The report rated the systems as ‘low risk’ and concluded as follows: “All CCG staff surveyed were aware of
their responsibilities regarding conflict of interest, the CCG’s arrangements in place to manage conflict of interest,
and how to make declarations and seek help or support. However, the CCG requires suitable mechanisms in place
that will ensure that its registers are complete, accurate with the absence of inconsistencies and it is complying with
all NHS England’s conflict of interest guidelines.”

Data Quality
A detailed performance report is presented to each bi-monthly meeting of the Governing Body and is available,
along with all public Governing Body meeting papers, on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s website. All
information provided to the Governing Body and membership is subject to rigorous internal scrutiny prior to
issue. The governance processes have also been the subject of an internal audit review. No adverse comments
have been received regarding the accuracy of the information provided by the Governing Body, member practices
or the internal auditors.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles
information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information. The NHS Information
Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
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information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit assessment.
No Serious Incidents have been reported by the Clinical Commissioning Group relating to data security breaches.
Information risk management is integrated with the Clinical Commissioning Group’s overall risk management
strategy, and compliance with the Health and Social Care Information Centre Information Governance Toolkit
ensures all key information security risks are monitored and controlled. Via its informatics providers: South,
Central and West Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) and Countywide IT Services, the Clinical Commissioning
Group operates secure information networks and systems. New systems and processes are assessed by
governance and information security staff at the point of design or procurement, and appropriate safeguards
to minimise risk are put in place. Incidents are reported on an online reporting tool and monitored by the CSU’s
governance team with input from Information Governance and Information Security experts as required.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and processes in place
to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an information governance management
framework and are developing/have developed information governance processes and procedures in line with
the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training
and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information
governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We are developing
information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme will be established to fully embed an
information risk culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.

Business Critical Models
In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the quality assurance of
analytical models, we can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality
assurance of business critical models.

Third party assurances
The CCG is working in partnership with Gloucestershire County Council to manage both the Better Care Fund
and other partnership budgets. The operation of the Better Care Fund is considered as part of the performance
monitoring report received at every formal meeting of the Governing Body. The arrangement is governed by a
Section 75 agreement signed off by both organisations.

Control Issues
There were some issues that were evident during the year that related to the achievement of Constitutional
Standards and other National Priorities. The most significant of these were as follows:
zzThere was a small number of patients who were waiting longer than 52 weeks for treatment; a proportion

of these patients were awaiting specialist spinal treatment. The CCG worked closely with the provider trusts,
to ensure plans were put in place for each of these patients. The CCG also worked with the Trusts in relation
demand and capacity modelling, provided additional commissioning management support and secured
additional capacity at alternative providers where appropriate
zzThe Accident and Emergency 4 hour target was breached during the year, as was the 12 hour breach target

(although numbers were small). An agreed improvement plan for the 4 hour target was implemented,
supported by 11 work programmes within the provider trust. Specific areas of focus were the reduction in
emergency admissions acute bed base capacity
zzThe Cancer 62 day target was breached, although performance improved towards the end of the year in

response to the provider trust’s recovery plan
zzSouth Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust was selected to be part of the national Ambulance

Response Programme (ARP). The objective of the ARP is to ensure that resources are appropriately deployed to
patients in response to clinical need.
The Governing Body received a detailed performance report at each scheduled meeting. These reports provided
a detailed breakdown and analysis of the financial performance of the CCG. The internal auditors of the CCG
undertook a comprehensive schedule of reviews that provided assurance regarding the economical, effective and
efficient use of resources.
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The Quality of Leadership indicator contained within the CCG Improvement and Assurance Framework for 201617 was rated as ‘Green’, being the highest classification.
The Governing Body has received a monthly Finance Report which includes details of the CCG’s achievement
against surplus targets, its year to date financial position, achievement of savings plans and the key risks to its
financial position. The Governing Body has been supported in its financial oversight and challenge through
monthly updates on the position at development sessions where more detailed information is provided on the
financial and performance positions. Monthly reporting to the Governing Body also includes performance against
the CCG’s running cost budget.
The CCG’s Audit Committee maintains oversight of the organisation’s financial processes which include those
operating for QIPP. It is supported in its work by both internal and external auditors with internal audit providing
significant assurance on the controls in operation of the CCG’s key financial and other systems.

Delegation of functions
The CCG has a defined scheme of reservation and delegation in the CCG’s constitution approved by its GP members,
the Council of Members.
This identifies which functions are reserved for the Council of Members and Governing Body and which are
delegated for discharge across the CCG in line with effective use of resources and risk management processes. In
support of this the CCG has a Detailed Scheme of Delegation which identifies what financial responsibilities the
following levels of authority have:
zzLevel 1 – CCG Governing Body
zzLevel 2 – Accountable Officer
zzLevel 3 – Chief Finance Officer
zzLevel 4 – Other Directors
zzLevel 5 – Budget holders, in accordance with specific levels of authority granted to individuals
zzLevel 6 – all other office holders.
The Governing Body receives regular reports from all its committees to provide assurance regarding the
arrangements for the discharge of delegated functions, including those relating to quality, finance, risk and
performance, particularly relating to constitution targets. The Governing Body receives minutes from the Primary
Care Commissioning Committee ensuring they meet their delegated duties and that conflicts of interests are
being effectively managed. Internal Audit provides independent assurance on the processes in place as part of
the annual internal audit plan which is supplemented by the oversight of the assurance of the CCG’s value for
money, economy, efficiency and effectiveness by the External Auditors.

Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG’s Counter Fraud Service is provided by the Gloucestershire Shared Service for NHS (GSS). GSS employ a
team of three accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialists who provide the full range of Counter Fraud functions.
The Head of Counter Fraud meets regularly with the Chief Finance Officer to discuss progress against the Action
Plan and areas of potential risk.
Counter Fraud training is provided to all staff either as an annual refresher or via the induction programme. Staff
receive regular Counter Fraud updates via the CCG’s Team Brief.
The Head of Counter Fraud attends all Audit Committees to provide both a written and verbal update on
progress against the Action Plan and the Standards for Commissioners.
Counter Fraud ensures that the CCG receive appropriate national alerts and guidance from NHS Protect.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical Commissioning Group,
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit concluded that:
We are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow an opinion to be given as to
the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and control. In giving this opinion, it should be
noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit service can provide is reasonable
assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the system of internal control.
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Our Opinion is as follows:
Governance, risk management and control in relation to business critical areas is generally satisfactory. However,
there are some areas of weakness and non-compliance in the organisation’s system of internal control which
potentially put the achievement of objectives at risk. The CCG has either implemented or has action plans in
place to implement the recommendations raised during the year.
Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s
system of internal control.

Basis of opinion
Our opinion is based on:
zzAll audits undertaken during the year
zzAny follow up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods
zzAny significant recommendations not accepted by management and the resulting risks
zzThe effects of any significant changes in the organisation’s objectives or systems
zzAny limitations which may have been placed on the scope or resources of internal audit
zzWhat proportion of the organisation’s audit needs have been covered to date.

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and together with the opinion should be read in its
entirety.

Commentary
The key factors that contributed to our opinion are summarised as follows:
zzTo date we have completed all 13 of the internal audit reviews in the 2016-17 internal audit plan for the year

ended 31 March 2017.
zzOur work has identified 36 Low, 9 medium, 2 high and 0 critical risk rated findings.
zzAs was the case last year, the overall classification for Continuing Healthcare (CHC) was high risk. Findings

related to a number of instances of non-compliance with CHC/FNC processes across a number of areas.
Revised processes have been put in place however these have not yet embedded fully.
zzWe did not classify any other internal audit reports as high risk and we did not identify any individual high risk

findings in our other internal audit reviews. The CCG has implemented a number of the recommendations
raised during 2016-17 and has action plans are in place to implement those that have not been implemented
by 31 March 2017.
zzThere are nine recommendations from the prior year relating to CHC, JUYI and Partnership Working that are

still ongoing, we recognise that significant progress has been made with regards these findings but further
work is required. Additionally the CHC review was followed up in 2016-17 and whilst the recommendations
are ongoing, progress has been made which has resulted in some of the risk ratings being reduced. Within
the ongoing recommendations there are 2 high, 3 medium and 4 low risk rated findings.
zzAs part of our programme of work, the CCG commissioned a review of Clinical Coding jointly with

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The review was rated as high risk. The responsibility for the
implementation of these recommendations resides with the Trust rather than the CCG. Therefore, we have
excluded these findings from the overall total.
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Core Financial Systems

Low Risk

Procurement

Low Risk

Human Resources

Medium Risk

QIPP

Low Risk

Risk Management

Low Risk

Corporate Governance – Conflicts of Interest

Low Risk

Compliance with Clinical Standards – Medicines Management

Medium Risk

Clinical Governance

Low Risk

Information Governance

Low Risk

Performance Management

Low Risk

Primary Care Co-Commissioning

Low Risk

CHC Follow-up

High Risk

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors,
executive managers and clinical leads within the Clinical Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
zzThe Governing Body
zzThe Audit Committee
zzThe Integrated Governance and Quality Committee
zzInternal Audit.

The conclusions of each were that there were no significant control issues.

Performance
Report – an
overview
Performance
Report –
performance
analysis
Primary Care
Strategy –
Annual Report
update

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified during 2016-17.
Mary Hutton
Accountable Officer
25 May 2017
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Remuneration and staff report
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body about the remuneration,
fees and allowances for senior managers and the persons in senior positions within the CCG, including
those who regularly attend the Governing Body meeting, who are appointed by or who provide services
to the CCG. Details on the Remuneration Committee are shown within the Governance report.
Full details of the remuneration paid to the Governing Body members and senior employees are
provided within the Remuneration Report included herein, together with their pension entitlements.
Senior Managers Remuneration Report
For the purpose of this report, senior managers are defined as being ‘those persons in senior positions
having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’.
This means those who influence the decisions of the organisation as a whole rather than the decisions
of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will include Lay Members.
It is the Remuneration Committee that recommends the reward packages of Executive Directors to the
Governing Body.
Information on the Remuneration Committee can be found in the Governance Statement.
Remuneration Policy
The policy on remuneration of senior managers has been set using national CCG remuneration guidance
and principles within “Clinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where
the senior manager also undertakes the Accountable Officer role) and Chief Finance Officers”.
The CCG does not have a policy for performance related pay for its senior managers.
Senior Manager Contracts
Senior officer appointments to the CCG are consistent with the employment policies of the CCG. Where
appropriate, duration of contracts is determined by the needs of the business. Notice periods take
account of statutory requirements and terms previously established by the NHS very senior managers’
pay framework. Liability in the event of early termination is in accordance with the NHS Agenda for
Change terms and conditions handbook and further guidance set by NHS England on the termination
and reengagement of senior managers.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the members as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
(CETVs) are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of
Actuaries.
Payments to past directors (subject to audit)
We had no payments to past directors in 2016-17.
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Remuneration Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG 2016-17

Helen Miller, Clinical Chair to 28/4/16

Total (bands of
£5,000)

All Pension Related
Benefits (bands of
£2,500)*

Sub-toal (bands of
bands)

Annual
Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
Long Term
Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Taxable Benefits
(rounded to nearest
£00)

Name & Title

Salary & Fees
(bands of £5,000)

2016-17

5-10

5-10

5-10

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair 1/4/16-30/4/16,
Clinical Chair 1/5/16 onwards

115-120

115-120

22.5-25 140-145

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer

140-145

140-145

32.5-35 175-180

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/Director of
Commissioning Implementation

110-115

110-115

87.5-90 200-205

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer

105-110

105-110

37.5-40 145-150

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign

100-105

100-105

32.5-35 135-140

Helen Goodey, Director of Primary Care and Locality
Development

100-105

100-105 115-117.5 215-220

10-15

10-15 177.5-180 190-195

45-50

45-50

12.5-15

55-60

20-25

20-25

2.5-5

25-30

35-40

35-40

45-50

45-50

10-12.5

55-60

45-50

45-50

20-22.5

65-70

45-50

45-50

45-50

45-50

100-105

100-105

100-105

Julie Clatworthy, Registered Nurse

20-25

20-25

20-25

Alan Elkin, Lay Member, Patient and Public Engagement/
Involvement

15-20

15-20

15-20

Colin Greaves, Lay Member, Governance

20-25

20-25

20-25

Peter Marriner, Lay Member, Finance, from 1/1/17

0-5

0-5

0-5

Valerie Webb, Lay Member, Business, to 31/5/16

0-5

0-5

0-5

Joanna Davies, Lay Member, Communications

5-10

5-10

5-10

Kim Forey, Director of Integration, from 1/12/16
Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead (North
Cotswolds)
Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud &
Berkeley Vale)
Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning Lead (South
Cotswolds) to 13/1/17
Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Gloucester City)
Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud &
Berkeley Vale) until 4/7/16, Deputy Clinical Chair from 5/7/16
Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Tewkesbury,
Newent & Staunton)
Dr Tristan Lench, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest of Dean)
Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse & Quality Lead

Dr Raju Reddy, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor (From 1/11/15)

35-40

45-50
7.5-10

50-55

Payment is made to Dr Reddy's host Trust
(Birmingham Childrens NHS Foundation Trust)

Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health at Gloucestershire County
No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG
Council
Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care at
No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG
Gloucestershire County Council

* These figures are purely the benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the NHS Pensions Scheme. These
are the aggregate input amounts, calculated using the method set out in section 229 of the Finance Act 2004(1). Para 10(1)
(e)(ii)(cc) of sch8 of 2013/1981 (update to the Finance Act 2004):
• Kim Forey was appointed a director of the CCG from 1st December 2016. In terms of the pension increase calculation, this has been
calculated by the Pensions Agency as if she did not previously have any contribution and, therefore, the resulting figure is not a true
reflection of the actual increase in pension benefits which is significantly less than this calculation.
• Due to changes in the NHS Pension Scheme and, in particular, where individuals may have changed schemes this distorts the
calculation during the year and results in pensions benefits showing in excess of actual benefits.
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Remuneration Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG 2015-16
2015-16

Name & Title

Long Term
Annual
Taxable
All Pension
Benefits Performance Performance
Related
Related
Related
Salary (rounded
Bonuses
Sub-toal Benefits
Total
Bonuses
to
& Fees
(bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of
(bands of
(bands of nearest
£5,000)
bands) £2,500)* £5,000)
£5,000)
£00)
£5,000)

Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair

85-90

-

-

-

85-90

7.5-10

90-95

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair

80-85

-

-

-

80-85

7.5-10

90-95

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer

140-145

-

-

-

140-145

10-12.5

150-155

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/
Director of Commissioning Implementation

105-110

-

-

-

105-110

-

105-110

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer

100-105

-

-

-

100-105

15-17.5

120-125

100-105

-

-

-

100-105

22.5-25

120-125

75-80

-

-

-

75-80

22.5-25

100-105

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

10-12.5

55-60

20-25

-

-

-

20-25

-

20-25

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

-

40-45

5-10

-

-

-

5-10

-

5-10

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

-

40-45

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

-

40-45

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

90-92.5

135-140

40-45

-

-

-

40-45

7.5-10

50-55

20-25

5-7.5

30-35

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service
Redesign
Helen Goodey, Director of Primary Care and Locality
Development (from 19/06/2015)
Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(North Cotswolds)
Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(Stroud & Berkeley Vale)
Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(South Cotswolds)
Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(Forest Of Dean) (to 31/05/15
Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(Gloucester City)
Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(Stroud & Berkeley Vale)
Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead
(Tewkesbury, Newent & Staunton)
Dr Tristan Lench, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest
of Dean) (From 09/04/15)
Dr Sadaf Haque, GP Liaison Lead (From 01/06/15)

20-25

Julie Clatworthy, Registered Nurse

15-20

Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse & Quality
100-105
Lead
Alan Elkin, Lay Member, Patient and Public
15-20
Engagement/Involvement

-

-

-

15-20

-

15-20

-

-

-

100-105

-

100-105

-

-

-

15-20

-

15-20

Colin Greaves, Lay Member, Governance

15-20

-

-

-

15-20

-

15-20

Valerie Webb, Lay Member, Business

5-10

-

-

-

5-10

-

5-10

Joanna Davies, Lay Member (From 01/12/15)

0-5

-

-

-

0-5

Dr Raju Reddy, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor (From
1/11/15)

0-5

Payment is made to Dr Reddy's host Trust (Birmingham Childrens NHS
Foundation Trust)

Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health at
Gloucestershire County Council

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care at
Gloucestershire County Council

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

* These figures are purely the benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the NHS Pensions Scheme. These
are the aggregate input amounts, calculated using the method set out in section 229 of the Finance Act 2004(1). Para 10(1)
(e)(ii)(cc) of sch8 of 2013/1981 (update to the Finance Act 2004):
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Pensions Report 2016-17
Lump sum at age 60 related to
accrued pension at 31 March 2017
(Bands of £5,000)

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2016 £000

Real increase in Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value £000

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2017 £000

Employer’s contribution to
partnership pension £000

0-2.5

5-7.5 10-15

35-40

187

47

234

17

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer

0-2.5

5-7.5 30-35 100-105 646

68

714

20

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/Director Of Commissioning
Implementation

5-7.5

2.5-5 35-40

90-95

472

71

543

16

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer

2.5-5

0-2.5 35-40

90-95

550

49

599

15

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign

0-2.5

0-2.5 15-20

40-45

202

39

241

15

Helen Goodey, Director of Primary Care and Locality Development

5-7.5 10-12.5 15-20

45-50

225

95

320

15

Kim Forey, Director of Integration, from 1/12/16 *

0-2.5

5-10

0

-

-

131

4

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead (North Cotswolds)

0-2.5

0-2.5 10-15

35-40

225

25

250

6

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale)**

0-2.5

0-2.5 15-20

55-60

423

-

-

1

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Gloucester City)

0-2.5

0-2.5 10-15

35-40

226

25

251

6

5-10

15-20

104

20

124

4

0-2.5 10-15

25-30

129

20

149

7

0

8

9

17

6

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) until
4/7/16, then Deputy Clinical Chair from 5/7/16
Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent &
Staunton)
Dr Tristan Lench, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest of Dean)
Dr Raju Reddy, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor
Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse & Quality Lead

0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5

Real increase in pension lump sum
at aged 60 (Bands of £2,500)

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair until 30/4/16,
then Clinical Chair from 1/5/16

Name & Title

Real increase in pension at age 60
(Bands of £2,500)

Total accrued pension at age 60 at
31 March 2017 (Bands of £5,000)

Pensions Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG
2016-17

0-0

0-0

0-0

0-5

Dr Reddy is not an employee of NHS Gloucestershire
CCG and payment is made to his host Trust (Birmingham
Childrens NHS Foundation Trust)
Dr Andrews-Evans has opted out of the NHS pension
scheme

* Kim Forey has no Prior Year Cash Equivalent Transfer Value due to her governing body role starting 1/1/17
** Dr Buckley has no Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 31st March 2017 as he is in receipt of his pension
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Name & Title

Real increase in pension at age 60
(Bands of £2,500)

Real increase in pension lump sum
at aged 60 (Bands of £2,500)

Total accrued pension at age 60 at
31 March 2016 (Bands of £5,000)

Lump sum at age 60 related to
accrued pension at 31 March
2016 (Bands of £5,000)

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2015 £000

Real increase in Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value £000

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2016 £000

Employer’s contribution to
partnership pension £000

Pensions Report 2015-16

Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair

0-2.5

2.5-5

15-20

50-55

338

23

365

12

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

30-35

167

18

187

12

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer

0-2.5

2.5-5

30-35

95-100 605

35

646

20

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/Director of Commissioning
Implementation

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

85-90

457

10

472

16

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer

0-2.5

(0-2.5)

30-35

90-95

526

18

550

15

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign

0-2.5

(0-2.5)

15-20

40-45

185

15

202

14

Helen Goodey, Director of Primary Care and Locality Development
(from 19/06/15)

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

35-40

197

20

225

11

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead (North Cotswolds)

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

35-40

205

17

225

6

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale)

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

55-60

412

7

423

3

Pensions Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG
2015-16

Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning Lead (South Cotswolds)

Dr Gerald has opted out of the NHS pension scheme

Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest Of Dean)
(to 31/05/15)

Dr Gibbs retired from the NHS on the 31st May
2015 and there are no values for 31st March 2016

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Gloucester City)

0-2.5

(0-2.5)

10-15

35-40

215

8

226

6

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale)

(0-2.5)

(2.5-5)

5-10

15-20

95

8

104

6

15-20

0

139

9

150

6

Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent &
Staunton)
Dr Marion Andrews-Evans, Executive Nurse & Quality Lead

5-7.5 (32.5-35)

Dr Andrews-Evans has opted out of the NHS pension
scheme

Dr Sadaf Haque, GP Liaison Lead (from 01/06/15)

0-2.5

0

0-5

0

0

3

4

4

Dr Tristan Lench, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest of Dean)
(from 09/04/15)

0-2.5

0

0-5

0

0

7

7

6

Dr Raju Reddy, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor (From 1/11/15)

Dr Reddy is not an employee of NHS Gloucestershire CCG and
payment is made to his host Trust (Birmingham Childrens NHS
Foundation Trust)

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme,
not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the
scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute
and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from
another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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Staff Report
NHS Gloucestershire CCG is a significant employer and larger than most CCGs. The workforce is made up
of employees from a wide variety of professional backgrounds, in many cases in small numbers and a large
proportion of employees sit within the management delivery team.
In building effective and meaningful partnership working with staff and staff side representatives, the CCG has
developed partnership arrangements that are sufficiently flexible to accommodate and reflect the workforce in
terms of professional group and size.
The CCG recognises all of the trade unions outlined in the Agenda for Change terms and conditions handbook
who have members employed by the organisation.
Local arrangements are determined on an ad hoc basis where formal staff consultation is required, to ensure
appropriate and effective consultation arrangements are in place.
The approach has worked well and an Organisational Development Group and Staff Consultative Forum are in
place to consider staff issues and ensure effective communication with the workforce. Arrangements for formal
staff consultation may be reviewed in light of the Business Plan to consider where arrangements may be further
strengthened going forward.
The CCG has delegated negotiations over HR policy development to the SCW CSU Staff Partnership Forum (SPF).
The SPF considers collated feedback from the CCG as part of this process and ensures staff and trade unions are
equally engaged in the development process.
Policies are formally reviewed both by the Executive Management Team and by a Policy Review Group, before
being ratified and adopted by the CCG’s Integrated Governance & Quality Committee prior to publication.
The CCG has an organisational development plan which sets out how the organisation and individuals within it
will progress to full capability.
The CCG is adopting a policy of visible and accessible leadership, with senior management engaging with staff.
Examples include:
zzMonthly face to face Team Briefing sessions (led by the Accountable Officer and Clinical Chair). This is

supported by a written Team Brief e-bulletin which is then distributed and discussed within individual
Directorate team meetings
zzIntroduction of a monthly Staff Awards. The presentation is held at the above session
zzAll CCG Staff Events – interactive workshop style sessions engaging staff in the development of the

organisation
zzEstablishment of a CCG Staff Consultative Forum to engage staff representatives on key developments and

to enhance levels of communication
zzDevelopment of ‘CCG Live,’ a website that holds information on all team briefs, policies, procedures and

other information
zzA monthly coffee morning (half hour), hosted on rotation by each department attended by CCG staff and

directors to ensure strong networking and sharing of work related information across Directorates
zzThe CCG Executive Team meets with senior managers regularly.

Managers hold regular one-to-one meetings with staff and a robust appraisal system ensures all staff work
towards clearly defined personal objectives which are supported with learning, training and development
opportunities.

The Financial
Statements

Remuneration
and staff
report

Governance
Statement

Primary Care
Accountability
Strategy –
Report
Annual Report
update

Performance
Report –
performance
analysis

Performance
Report – an
overview

57

Sickness absence data
Details of the level of sickness absence are given in note 5.4 in the Financial Statements. The organisation has an
approved policy and associated procedure to help with the management of sickness absence.
Sickness absence is managed in a supportive and effective manner by CCG managers, with professional advice
and support from Human Resources, Occupational Health and Staff Support services. The CCG’s approach to
managing sickness absence is governed by a clear HR policy and this is further reinforced by the provision of HR
support and training sessions for all line managers on the effective management of sickness absence.
Managers ensure that the culture of sickness reporting is embedded within their teams and sickness absence
is actively monitored and formally reported to the CCG’s Integrated Governance & Quality Committee on a
quarterly basis as part of the workforce reporting mechanism. This committee includes both Lay Members &
Executive Directors of the CCG.

Staff sickness absence data 2016-17
NHS Gloucestershire CCG

16-17

15-16

Total days lost

1,467

1,061

Total staff

217

183

Average working days lost

6.77

5.80

16-17
0
£0

15-16
0
£0

Staff sickness absence and ill health retirement in 2016-17
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

Disabled employees
The CCG has developed an integrated approach to delivering workforce equality so it does not have a separate
policy for disabled employees or for any other protected characteristics but it has incorporated equalities issues in
policies covering all aspects of employee management ranging from recruitment to performance to discipline.
The CCG’s aim is to operate in ways which do not discriminate our potential or current employees with any of
protected characteristics specified in the Equality Act 2010 and to support our employees to maximise their
performance including making any reasonable adjustments that may be required on a case by case basis.
The CCG publishes their employee profile by each of the nine protected characteristics, this helps the organisation
to identify and address areas of under-representation in a systematic manner as and when opportunities arise. On
a quarterly basis, the Executive Management Team receives a report on the workforce profile.
More information about the CCG Equality and Diversity strategy can be found on the website:
www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity/reports/

Fair Pay
The range of remuneration is £16.8k to £173.9k.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/
Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the governing body in the CCG in the financial year
2016-17 was £140-145k. This was 3.81 (3.97 in 2015-16) times the median remuneration of the workforce which
was £37,403. This is not a significant movement from the previous financial year.
In 2016-17, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of the governing
body. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not
severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value
of pensions.
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Off Payroll Engagements
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six
months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as 31 March 2017

6

of which, the number that have existed:
- for less than one year at the time of reporting

1

- for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

- for between two and three years at the time of reporting

2

- for between three and four years at the time of reporting

2

- for four or more years at the time of reporting

0

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and
that last longer than six months
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2016
and 31 March 2017
Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the clinical commissioning group the
right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations

3
0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

3

Of which, the number:
- For whom assurance has been received

3

- For whom assurance has not been received

0

- That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

All existing off payroll engagements have been subject to a risk based assessment and assurance has been
sought that the individuals pay the right amount of tax. All have responded and provided assurance.
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility,
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant financial
responsibility, during the year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers with significant
financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll
engagements

0
22

Senior Manager composition of wte by band are as presented below:
16-17
Staff Groupings by Occupational Code

15-16

Male

Female

Total

Male

Female

Total

Senior Manager G0 (Band 8D and Above)

8

12

20

7

9

16

Manager G1 (Band 8A, 8B, 8C)

21

43

64

20

30

50

Sub Totals

29

55

84

26

40
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Staff profile
The Profile of staff within the CCG, based on the average number of Whole Time Equivalent employed in
2016-17, is as presented in the table below. This is referred to in note 4.2 of the Annual Accounts.
Directors

Other employees

Total

6

245

251

- permanent

6

218

224

- other

0

27

27

Male

1

69

70

Female

5

176

181

Directors
£'000

Other employees
£'000

Total
£'000

870

11,359

12,229

870

9,841

10,711

-

1,518

1,518

Total staff numbers
of which

of which

Staff costs including employers national insurance and pension

Total staff costs
of which
- permanent
- other

Employee benefits and staff numbers (split across admin and programme)
2016-17 analysis

Total
Admin
Programme
Permanent
Permanent
Total Permanent
Employees Other Total Employees Other Total Employees Other

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure

10,148

8,630

915

915

0

1,154

1,154

12

12

12,229

Less recoveries in respect of
0
employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total – Net admin employee
12,229
benefits including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

0
12,229

6,409

561

3,178

2,221

957

706

706

0

209

209

0

0

860

860

0

294

294

0

0

12

12

0

0

0

0

10,711 1,518 8,548

7,987

561 3,681

2,724

957

0

0

0

561 3,681

2,724

957

0

0

0

561 3,681

2,724

957

0

1,518 6,970

0

0

10,711 1,518 8,548

7,987

0

0

0

0

0

10,711 1,518 8,548

7,987

0

0
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5.2.2 2015-16 analysis

Total

Admin

Programme

Permanent
Total Permanent
Employees Other Total Employees Other

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Total Permanent
Employees Other

£’000

£’000

£’000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total – Net admin employee
benefits including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

8,154

7,333

821 6,505

614

614

0

513

513

0

956

956

0

782

782

0

9,724

8,903

821 7,800

7,235

0

0

9,724

8,903

0

0

9,724

8,903

0

5,941

0

0

821 7,800

7,235

0

0

0

821 7,800

7,235

565 1,648

1,392

256

101

101

0

174

174

0

565 1,924

1,668

256

0

0

0

565 1,924

1,668

256

0

0

0

565 1,924

1,668

256

0

0

zzThere have been no significant awards made to past senior managers in 2016-17
zzThere has been no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office in 2016-17
zzThere have been no payments to past directors in 2016-17
zzThere has been one exit package paid in 2016-17.

Exit Package cost band (including any special payment element)
Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Whole
Numbers
only

£'s

Number
of
other
departures
agreed

Whole
Numbers
only

Cost of
other
departures
agreed

Total
number
of
exit
packages

Whole
Numbers
only

£'s

Total
Number of
cost
departures
where special
of exit
packages
payments
have been
made

£'s

Whole
Numbers
only

Cost of
special
payment
element
included
in exit
packages

£'s

Less than £10,000
£10,000 - £25,000

1

12,008

0

0

1

12,008

0

0

1

12,008

0

0

1

12,008

0

0

£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,000
TOTALS

zzNo staff on Very Senior Manager contracts earn in excess of £142,500 pa on a pro-rata basis.
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Consultancy
Consultancy costs of £184k in 2016-17 were spent in the following areas.

Primary Care
Other
Mental Health
Corporate
Acute

External audit
The CCG’s external auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP. The cost of the annual
statutory audit of the 2016-17 Financial Statements was £85.5K. The cost was
determined based upon the size of the CCG’s commissioning budget. The CCG did
not receive any other services from Grant Thornton in year.

Mary Hutton
Accountable Officer
25 May 2017
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NHS Gloucestershire CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017
Note

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

3
3

(24,264)
(1,054)
(25,318)

(20,805)
(943)
(21,748)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

5
6
6
6
6

12,229
832,613
81
881
1,186
846,990

9,724
806,668
49
1,137
6,168
823,746

821,672

801,998

0

0

821,672

801,998

Total Net Expenditure for the year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

Note

2016-17

2015-16

£'000

£'000

9

398
398

290
290

10
11

4,288
17
4,305

7,238
23
7,261

4,703

7,551

(40,924)
(1,712)
(42,636)

(43,221)
(1,782)
(45,003)

(37,933)

(37,452)

Non-current liabilities

0

0

Assets less Liabilities

(37,933)

(37,452)

General fund

(37,933)

(37,452)

Total taxpayers' equity:

(37,933)

(37,452)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

12
13

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

The notes on pages 68 to 89 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 64 to 67 were approved by the Governing Body on 25th May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Mary Hutton
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016-17
General fund
£'000

Balance at 1 April

2015-16
General
fund
£'000

(37,452)

(34,782)

Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(821,672)

(801,998)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

(859,125)

(836,780)

Net funding

821,192

799,328

Balance at 31 March

(37,933)

(37,452)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity

The notes on pages 68 to 89 form part of this statement.
The General Fund is the only reserve for NHS Gloucestershire CCG

5

6

17

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 68 to 89 form part of this statement.

23

(6)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

821,192

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
11

821,192

(821,198)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(40)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

(821,672)
81
2,950
(2,447)
(951)
881
(821,158)

2016-17
£'000

(40)

9
10
12
13
13

Note

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017

NHS Gloucestershire CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17

23

104

(81)

799,328

799,328

(799,409)

(258)

(258)

(801,998)
49
(1,088)
2,967
(218)
1,137
(799,151)

2015-16
£'000
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NHS Gloucestershire CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis .
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future
is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National
Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the
clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of
the assets);
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.4

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.4.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
 Lead Commissioning arrangements
Where the CCG is the lead commissioner for service level agreements that include a contribution from Gloucestershire
County Council, all figures are shown in gross terms (i.e. the contribution from the local authority is shown within Other
Operating Income).
 Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) has been accounted for as an aligned pool in line with other Joint Commissioning
Arrangements with the Council.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning
group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
 Partially Completed Spells
Estimates of expenditure relating to such spells have primarily been taken from analysis provided by secondary care
providers.
 Accruals for delegated co-commisioning of primary care services
Actual core spend on primary care services relating to Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) and national enhanced
services are issued in arrears and, therefore, the annual estimate is based on forecast information derived from National
primary care monitoring database and historical trends.
 Accruals for Prescribing/Home Oxygen costs
Primary care prescribing information is received from the Business Services Authority who process prescription items to
reimburse and remunerate pharmacy contractors and provide information on the cost of drugs prescribed by primary
care prescribers. Actual prescribing information is issued in arrears and, therefore, the annual estimate is based on
forecast information issued by the NHS Business Services Authority.
 Provisions recognised as at 31st March 2017
The provision for continuing healthcare has been calculated by taking those claims outstanding at 31 March 2017 which
had not previously been notified to NHS England. An assessment of the estimated/potential financial value is then
made and a likelihood factor applied (based on previous experience).
 Secondary Healthcare service costs
Secondary Healthcare activity information is collected on a national system "Secondary Users System" (SUS). This data
is subsequently imported into a local contract management system. Secondary Healthcare providers are paid in year for
activity which has been carried out and which is due under the contract terms. However, the final year end activity for
which the CCG will be charged will not be available until June, therefore estimates of the activity has been provided
based on the information from the contract monitoring system and providers themselves. The estimated creditor for the
final month of the year is included within Trade and Other Payables.

1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.6

Employee Benefits

1.6.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to
the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if
it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning
group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They
are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or
constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical
commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from
current value in existing use.
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1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised
and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9

Depreciation & Impairments
Depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of plant and equipment, less any residual value, over their
estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets.
The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be
shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end,
with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its
tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.

1.10

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to
whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
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1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·
Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
·
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%)
·
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an
annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution
is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence
cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when
they become due.

1.15

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior
to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used
to settle the claims.

1.16

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.17

Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified as loans and receivables
1.17.1 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in
an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than
those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses
recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a
provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.18

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or
services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the
financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.19

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.20

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not
been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21

Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other
parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the
income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.22

Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred

1.23

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied
in 2016-17, all of which are subject to consultation:
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they
applied in that year.

1.24

Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a joint arrangement with the Gloucestershire County Council and has been classified as
an aligned budget for accounting purposes.
During 2016/17 the BCF was constituted of 40 separate schemes of which
- Gloucestershire CCG took the commissioning lead on 27 schemes
- Gloucestershire County Council took the commissioning lead on 12 schemes (one of which relied on a shared funding
contribution from the CCG)
- One scheme (Reablement in Ashley House and the Kingham Unit) was jointly commissioned and has been deemed to
be under the joint control of both organisations. The risks and rewards are shared on an equal basis and is not material
financially. In 2016/17 the CCG reported costs of £544k of a total service cost of £1,088k; representing 2.6% of the
total BCF planned spend of £41,363k.
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2.2

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

0

17,551

Under/(Over) spend

17,551

12,229
834,951
847,180

839,413
25,318
864,731

Total
£000

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Met (Y/N)?

14,068

76,802

0

811,454

200

833,202

2015-16
Target

Met (Y/N)?

9,456

9,724
814,022
823,746

811,454
21,748
833,202

Revenue
£000

49

151
151

200

200

2015-16
Capital
£000

12,613 Yes

75,430 Yes

0 Yes

801,998 Yes

151 Yes

823,746 Yes

2015-16
Performance

9,505

9,724
814,174
823,898

811,654
21,748
833,402

Total
£000

Revenue administration resource ("running costs" allocation)
Under/(Over) spend against Revenue administration resource

Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue

2.4 Performance against Revenue administration resource
8,548
4,743
(140)

2016-17
£000

13,589
438

13,151

2016-17
£000

7,800
5,150
(337)

2015-16
£000

14,068
1,455

12,613

2015-16
£000

2.3 Revenue resource use on specified matters
This relates to delegated co-commissioning of primary care services and reports the initial indicative allocation as at 1 April 2016. The contingency has been utilised during
the year in this area but the 1% headroom has been released to generate the reported outturn.

The CCG's original plan was to deliver a surplus of £9.456m. As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of
the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View
transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore, to comply with
this requirement, NHS Gloucestershire CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £8.088m. This additional surplus has been will be
carried forward for drawdown in future years.
As a consequence, the actual reported surplus for 2016/17, increased to £17.551m against the the CCG's revised target surplus of £17.544m.

190
190
190

190

12,229
834,761
846,990

2016-17
Capital
£000

13,151

77,738

0

821,672

190

846,990

2016-17
Performance

Employee benefits
Operating costs
Total Expenditure

Revenue
£000

13,589

78,523

0

839,223

190

864,541

2016-17
Target

839,223
25,318
864,541

223J (3)

223J (2)

223J (1)

223I (3)

223I (2)

223H (1)

NHS Act 2006
Section

Notified Resource Limit
Total Other operating revenue
Total Income

2.1/2.2 Performance against Resource limit

2.1

Expenditure not to exceed income

See
below

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2 Financial performance targets
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3 Other Operating Revenue

Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

4
116
24,260
938
25,318

0
116
21
3
140

4
0
24,239
935
25,178

0
262
20,805
681
21,748

Administrative revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to commissioning of healthcare services.
Non-patient care services to other bodies primarily relate to charges made to Gloucestershire County Council for their contribution to
contracts where the lead commissioner is NHS Gloucestershire CCG. The increase in 2016/17 primarily relates to the full year impact
resulting from the transfer of Health Visiting responsibilities from NHS England to the local authority which was actioned in 2015/16.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England which is drawn down directly into the bank
4 Revenue
Revenue is totally from the supply of services. No revenue is received from the sale of goods
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5. Employee benefits and staff numbers
5.1 Summary of employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2016-17
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

2015-16
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

10,148
915
1,154
12
12,229

8,630
915
1,154
12
10,711

1,518
0
0
0
1,518

8,154
614
956
0
9,724

7,333
614
956
0
8,903

821
0
0
0
821

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
12,229

0
10,711

0
1,518

0
9,724

0
8,903

0
821

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
12,229

0
10,711

0
1,518

0
9,724

0
8,903

0
821

The largest increase in staff groups in 2016/17 related to rises in clinical staff within both the continuing healthcare and the clinical pharmacy teams.
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0
12,229

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

8,154
614
956
9,724
0
9,724
0
9,724

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Total
£'000

2015-16

0
12,229

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

5.2.2 2015/16 analysis

10,148
915
1,154
12
12,229

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

5.2.1 2016/17 analysis

5.2. Employee benefits and staff numbers (split across admin and programme)

NHS Gloucestershire CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17

0
8,903

0
8,903

7,333
614
956
8,903

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

0
10,711

0
10,711

8,630
915
1,154
12
10,711

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

17

Other
£'000

0
821

0
821

821
0
0
821

0
1,518

0
1,518

1,518
0
0
0
1,518

Other
£'000

0
7,800

0
7,800

6,505
513
782
7,800

Total
£'000

0
8,548

0
8,548

6,970
706
860
12
8,548

Total
£'000

0
7,235

0
7,235

5,941
513
782
7,235

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Admin

0
7,987

0
7,987

6,409
706
860
12
7,987

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Admin

Other
£'000

Other
£'000

0
565

0
565

565
0
0
565

0
561

0
561

561
0
0
0
561

0
1,924

0
1,924

1,648
101
174
1,924

Total
£'000

0
3,681

0
3,681

3,178
209
294
0
3,681

Total
£'000

Other
£'000

0
1,668

0
1,668

1,392
101
174
1,668

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Programme

0
2,724

0
2,724

2,221
209
294
0
2,724

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Programme

0
256

0
256

256
0
0
256

0
957

0
957

957
0
0
0
957
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5.3 Average number of people employed

2016-17
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total

251

2015-16
Other
Number

Total
Number

224

27

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2016-17
Number
1,467
217
6.76

2015-16
Number
1,061
183
5.80

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

2016-17
Number
0

2015-16
Number
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

5.4 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

218

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme
5.5 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£10,001 to £25,000
Total

2016-17
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
12,008
1

12,008

2016-17
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0

0

2016-17
Total
Number
1
1

£
12,008
12,008

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these
departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Agenda for Change Terms
and Conditions of Service.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
Where entities has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Entities and not by the NHS Pension Scheme,
and are included in the tables. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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5.6 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found
on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary
of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the
Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these
follows:
5.6.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £1,155k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £956k) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at
the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June
2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 5.1.
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846,990

Total operating expenses

13,291

1,260
0
86
0
589
0
86
10
560
63
1,005
0
81
86
0
0
0
0
632
0
9
253
0
0
23
4,743

7,678
870
8,548

2016-17
Admin
£'000

833,699

2,410
441,151
107,233
93,805
0
2,005
1,631
174
725
0
1,039
0
0
0
0
93,160
0
83,869
742
502
51
166
881
462
12
830,018

3,681
0
3,681

2016-17
Programme
£'000

20

Although expenditure on grants to other bodies has reduced when compared to the previous financial year, this expenditure continues to be incurred; the predominant
element being reported under 'Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies' in 2016/17.

823,746

4,011
426,764
105,428
83,609
673
2,040
2,518
196
1,325
34
1,170
(31)
49
86
1
94,968
68
83,232
999
4,286
36
235
1,137
1,154
34
814,022

8,938
786
9,724

2015-16
Total
£'000

Increased premises costs reflects the movement to the CCG being charged via a market rent mechanism by NHS Property Services for the first time in 2016/17.

Administrative expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services

3,670
441,151
107,319
93,805
589
2,005
1,717
184
1,285
63
2,044
0
81
86
0
93,160
0
83,869
1,374
502
60
419
881
462
35
834,761

11,359
870
12,229

2016-17
Total
£'000

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure - Other services
Prescribing costs
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - inc co-commissoning of GP primary care services
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to Other bodies
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

6. Operating expenses
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7.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£'000

14,072
13,759
97.78%

64,387
63,627
98.82%

7,791
7,557
97.00%

49,241
47,919
97.32%

3,842
3,798
98.85%

552,519
552,377
99.97%

3,578
3,526
98.55%

484,156
482,773
99.71%

8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited. In 2014/15, a transitional
occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed. However, in 2016/17, such property moved to
market rent valuation and additional funding was received by the CCG to offset any increased cost of implementing this
policy. This is reflected in Note 8.1.1.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental
charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease
payments for these arrangements.
Other lease costs in prior years relate to photocopiers.
Under delegated co-commissioning of primary care services arrangements, NHS Gloucestershire CCG has entered into
certain financial arrangements involving the use of GP premises. These have been considered under:
IAS 17 Leases
SIC 27 Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.
The CCG has determined that these are operating leases that must be recognised, but, as there is no defined term in the
arrangements entered into, it is not possible to analyse the arrangements over financial years. The financial value
included in operating expenses is £5.4m

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Buildings
£'000

2016-17
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Other
£'000

1,831
1,831
Buildings
£'000

2015-16
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

1,023
1,023
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Total
£'000
0
0

Other
£'000

1,831
1,831
Total
£'000

7
7

1,030
1,030

0

Total at 31 March

0

Total at 31 March

Transport equipment
Information technology

Minimum
Life (years)
1
4

Maximum
Life (Years)
1
5

586

Total

9.3 Economic Lives

81
505

2016-17
£'000

398

398

398

398

398

595

61

534

993

190

Information
technology
£'000
803

2016-17

Transport equipment
Information technology

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

9.2 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

0

Owned

Asset financing:

0

81

Depreciation at 31 March

Purchased

20

Charged during the year

0

61

Depreciation 01 April

Net Book Value at 31 March

81

0

Transport
equipment
£'000
81

Cost/Valuation at 31 March

Additions purchased

Cost or valuation at 01 April

2016-17

9 Property, plant and equipment
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190

884

22

505

0
505

2015-16
£'000

398

398

398

398

398

676

81

595

1,074

Total
£'000

20

20

20

20

20

61

20

41

81

0

Transport
equipment
£'000
81

270

270

270

270

270

534

29

505

803

151

Information
technology
£'000
652

2015-16
Total
£'000

290

290

290

290

290

594

49

545

884

151

733
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10 Trade and other receivables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

238
0
152
2,599
310
866
(57)
156
24
4,288

420
18
170
837
723
4,919
(52)
180
23
7,238

Total current and non current

4,288

7,238

The great majority of trade is with NHS organisations and Gloucestershire County Council. As NHS organisations are funded by
Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered
necessary. A similar approach has been taken with Gloucestershire County Council.

10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2016-17
£'000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2015-16
£'000
324
14
2
340

456
1
49
506

£117k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017. (2015/16: Nil)

10.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Balance at 01 April

(52)

(83)

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March

22
29
(56)
(57)

0
0
31
(52)

10.3 Non-current: capital analysis
Capital revenue
Capital expenditure

2016-17
£'000

190
(190)

2015-16
£'000

200
(151)
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11 Cash and cash equivalents
2016-17
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017

23
(6)
17

2015-16
£'000
104
(81)
23

17
0
17

23
0
23

0

0

17

23

0

0

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2017
Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above

12 Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

Current
2016-17

Current
2015-16

£'000

£'000

3,863
190
1,919
2,711
0
30,582
151
125
1,383
40,924

7,368
0
6,093
5,161
40
23,977
109
108
366
43,221

Other payables include £1,109k of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (2015/16: £165k)
Under delegated co-commissioning arrangements in 2015/16, payments to GP practices were arranged by NHS
England as an intermediary. Hence, any outstanding payments at the 31 March 2016 were reported as an
outstanding creditor with NHS England (within 'NHS accruals' in the above analysis). In 2016/17, payments were
arranged directly by the CCG to the GP practice and, therefore, all outstanding payments at 31 March 2017 have
been included within 'Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals'. This issue accounts for the most significant
movements within the presentation of the above note.
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500

911
0
0
911

551
(139)
0
0
0
912

Other
£'000

2016-17

Current
2015-16
£'000
1,282
500
1,782

1,712
0
0
1,712

881
(951)
0
0
0
1,712

1,782

Total
£'000

1,282
0
0
1,282

1,039
(217)
(222)
0
0
1,282

682

Continuing
Care
£'000
Other
£'000

2015-16

500
0
0
500

320
(1)
0
0
0
500

181

1,782
0
0
1,782

1,359
(218)
(222)
0
0
1,782
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Provisions made under the 'Other' category relates to potential primary care costs regarding practice development and other issues

The claims outstanding at 31 March 2017 are expected to be paid within the 2017/18 financial year

863

Total
£'000

The continuing care provision of £800k (2015-16: £1,282k) is for costs expected to be incurred in relation to backdated claims received by the CCG since 1st April
2013 for continuing healthcare and which have yet to be settled. Claims are assessed for eligibility using the national guidance and toolkit.
NHS England hold a provision for all backdated claims received prior to 1 April 2013

800
0
0
800

330
(812)
0
0
0
800

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2017

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2017

1,282

Continuing
Care
£'000

800
912
1,712

Current
2016-17
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016

Continuing care
Other
Total

13 Provisions
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14 Financial instruments
14.1 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£'000

390
3,465
17
24
3,896

590
5,756
24
23
6,393

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017
14.2 Financial liabilities

Other
2015-16
£'000

Other
2016-17
£'000
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2017

5,972
34,676
40,648

13,461
29,544
43,005

15 Operating Segments
The CCG and consolidated group consider that they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services
NHS Gloucestershire CCG presents its regular reports to the Governing Body (designated as the organisations Chief Operating
Decision Maker) in this format
16 Pooled budgets
The pooled budget relates to integrated community equipment services with Gloucestershire County Council
This service has been running for a number of years and buys, delivers, collects, maintains and decontaminates
equipment for patients in their own homes. This service is jointly commissionedby the CCG, with Gloucestershire
County Council, who are the lead commissioner for the service.
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the
financial year are:
2016-17
£000
3,527
(3,527)

Income
Expenditure
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2015-16
£000
3,358
(3,358)

895

Dr Malcolm Gerald (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead until 13/1/17)
Partner - Romney House Surgery

0

0

84

34

163

130

94

41

294

0

224

58

191

£000

1267

0

34

1641

1605

1548

844

1052

1683

501

833

602

1394

639

564

£000

790

2175

0

1247

1092

2262

1087

£000

0

62

53

53

155

71

345

161

384

595

341

£000

34

131

114

88

48

274

37

98

57

155

61

£000

Payments to primary care contractors, under devolved commissioning arrangements, are governed by the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) which is a formal sub-committee of
the Governing Body.

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these
transactions have been with Gloucestershire County Council in respect of joint commissioning of services.
The clinical commissioning group has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds.

Mr Colin Greaves (a lay member and Audit Committee Chair at the CCG) became a Council of Governors member of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS FT in October 2016 and Mr Peter Marriner (lay
member) has been a non-executive director for Devon Partnership NHS Trust since November 2016.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

Dr Raju Reddy (Secondary Care Doctor Advisor to CCG from 01/11/15)
Birmingham Childrens Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

62

1380

Dr Jeremy Welch (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead)
Partner - Jesmond House Surgery

54

1364

54

904

Dr Hein Le Roux (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead until 4/7/16; Deputy Clinical Chair from 5/7/16)
Minchinhampton Surgery

Dr Andrew Seymour (CCG Deputy Clinical Chair until 30/4/17; Clinical Chair from 1/5/17)
Partner - Heathville Road Surgery

145

70

604

1811

0

128

350

529

318

£000

Dr Tristan Lench (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead from 09/04/15)
Partner - Severnbank Surgery

Dr William Haynes (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead)
Partner - Hadwen Medical Practice

0

684

Dr Charles Buckley (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead)
Partner - Frampton Surgery

Dr Martin Gibbs (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead)
Partner - Blakeney Surgery

1542

685

Dr Caroline Bennett (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead)
Partner - Cotswold Medical Practice

Dr Helen Miller (Clinical Chair of CCG until 28/4/16)
Partner - The College Yard and Highnam Surgery

£000

34

1460

1808

985

767

2028

883

1092

1043

2144

1041

£000

2015/16 Payments to Related Party
Payments under
Total
delegated coDrugs
Other
commissioning reimbursed payments Payments
arrangements

2016/17 Payments to Related Party
Payments under
Total
delegated coDrugs
Other
commissioning reimbursed payments Payments
arrangements

During the year, with the exception of those listed below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or
parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group.

17 Related party transactions
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18 Losses and special payments
18.1 Losses
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Total

Total
Number of
Cases
2016-17
Number
4

Total Value
of Cases
2016-17
£'000
22

Total Number
of Cases
2015-16
Number
0

Total Value
of Cases
2015-16
£'000
0

4

22

0

0

18.2 Special payments
There have been no special payments made during 2016/17.
19 Events after the end of the reporting period

NHS planning guidance asked every health and care system to come together to create their own ambitious blueprint for accelerating implementation of
the Five Year Forward View, through the production of a Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). The STP is a place-based, multi-year plan built
around the needs of the local population and Gloucestershire's plan was produced in 2016/17.
The Next Steps on the Five Year Forward View from NHS England lays out the further transition to population based integrated health systems through
the creation of Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships and the future development of Accountable Care Systems.
The Gloucestershire STP is not a new statutory body, it supplements but does not replace the accountabilities of individual organisations and comes
together as the Gloucestershire Strategic Forum. The Gloucestershire STP footprint includes the following organisations
• Gloucestershire CCG
• Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• 2Gether NHS Foundation Trust
• Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust
• Gloucestershire County Council
• South Western Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust
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To discuss receiving this information in large print or Braille
please ring 0800 0151 548.
To discuss receiving this information in other formats please contact:

Ak si želáte získat túto informáciu v inom formáte, kontaktujte prosím

FREEPOST RRYY-KSGT-AGBR,
PALS, NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Sanger House,
5220 Valiant Court, Gloucester Business Park Gloucester GL3 4FE

www.twitter.com/GlosCCG
www.facebook.com/GlosCCG
www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk

